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I dedicate this book to my parents:
 my late father Cec and mother Valma (nee Russell).
They taught me the value of family, 
to search for truth and to love the past.



PREFACE AND 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

A number of times during this project, people expressed surprise that ‘there were any Aboriginal people left in Victoria’. This both astounded me and vindicated my decision to write this book. Their view stemmed from the twin reasoning that as black skins are now less in evidence in Victoria and traditional dress and customs are no longer practised, people are therefore no longer Aboriginal. I hope that a reading of this book will end such misapprehensions. My view here is based on the belief that people are defined culturally, not racially or by skin colour, and that people are free to define themselves. People do not cease to be Aboriginal due to their skin being lightened by inter-mingling and inter-marriage with lighter-skinned groups. Nor do people cease to be Aboriginal because they no longer use spears and digging sticks and choose or come to live materially like other Australians. Cultures can and do change, and people can and do reinvent themselves, while still retaining core cultural values that define them as different from other groups.

There is no denying that the European presence in this State, beginning two hundred years ago, irrevocably changed Aboriginal people. The European arrival created a land and cultural struggle that still continues. We must try to imagine the depth of feeling of this contest between original owners, who saw the land as life, as their cultural essence and identity, and newcomers, who saw it as an arcadia, the reward for their uprooting from distant homes and hearths. The subsequent interactions of these groups were diverse, complex and deadly serious—sometimes literally so—and I have tried to portray them on the large canvas of two centuries. This book is about how Aboriginal people experienced the European presence since 1800, and how they have forged a place in this State, reconciling themselves to living as Aboriginal people in an altered world.

I first imagined this book in 1988 and commenced research over the following few summers. It began as a twentieth-century history, but at some stage I realised that readers would want the whole story, and that I wanted to write it. I have spent ten years writing and publishing aspects of Victoria’s Aboriginal history: in a brochure for ATSIC; a background paper for the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody; a school text; and in a number of academic articles. A book with Alick Jackomos on Aboriginal tent boxing happily got in the way as well. I taught Victorian Aboriginal history for some years and learnt much from undergraduates, honours students and PhD students, more than they perhaps ever imagined. These ‘distractions’ laid the foundation for this book, allowing me to restart the project in 2001. Books create many debts and I must acknowledge these.

I must thank my colleague Alan Frost for pushing me to apply for a grant in 2000, and the Australian Research Council for awarding me a three-year grant, for without it this book would still not be completed. This ARC grant allowed me to employ two wonderfully clever and meticulous young researchers,Corinne Manning, a former PhD student of mine, and Antoinette Smith, a Koori researcher. For two years they combed the archives, libraries and picture collections for what proved to be a wealth of resources, enough for three volumes, not one. They acted as my eyes, appraising quantities of material that I could never have covered alone. The ARC grant also allowed me time to write in 2003, and La Trobe University extended that time with some study leave for which I am grateful. My colleagues in the History Program, who have always given me such friendship and support, covered for me while I was on writing leave, for which I thank them. Adrian Jones, my mate, encouraged me endlessly and Inga Clendinnen inspired me to try harder when I write.

In 2001 I approached over twenty Aboriginal communities across the State by letter, inviting them to participate in the making of this history by providing people to interview. Six communities found the time to respond to this unusual and difficult request and five worked with me through the rigours of the current ethics regime—the Mildura Aboriginal Cooperative; Budja Budja Aboriginal Cooperative (Halls Gap); Worn Gundidj Aboriginal Cooperative (Warrnambool); Wathaurong Aboriginal Cooperative (Geelong); and Ramahyuck District Aboriginal Corporation (Sale).

These five organisations found twenty people willing to share their stories with me and over six months I travelled across the State to interview them for several hours each about their lives and views. I found these forty or so hours of discussions extremely useful and extremely humbling. Each interviewee gave freely of themselves to someone who came to them as a stranger.We have written and spoken to each other many times since.While only snippets of our long interviews have made it into the book, they were indispensable in shaping the whole. Each has given permission for the corrected transcript (so ably typed by Mandy Rooke) to be located in the Koorie Heritage Trust as well as some local community organisations. By the time I revisited these twenty people recently, to check their stories and show them how their words were to appear in the book, we had become trusted collaborators. So endless thanks (in alphabetical order) to: Glenda Austin, Lynette Bishop, Murray Bull, Tim Chatfield, Betty Clements, Ivan Couzens, Noel Couzens, Brendan Edwards, Myra Grinter, Charlotte Jackson, Daphne Lowe, Robert Lowe, Ray Marks, Mark Matthews, Albert Mullett, Sandra Neilson, Sandra Stewart, Jamie Thomas, Elizabeth Tournier and Bess Yarram.

I also received help from the staff of other Aboriginal organisations, notably: Gunditjmara Aboriginal Cooperative Warrnambool; Bangerang Cultural Centre, Shepparton; KODE school Mildura; Koorie Heritage Trust, Melbourne; Krowathunkoolong Keeping Place, Bairnsdale; Museum Victoria’s Aboriginal Advisory Committee; Rumbalara Aboriginal Cooperative,Mooroopna; and Wathaurong Glass, Geelong. Thanks also to Julie Wilson, Daryl Rose,Mark Edwards, and Trevor Abrahams.

Historians are only as good as the archives and libraries they access and my deepest thanks go the staff of the following institutions: Aboriginal Affairs Victoria (especially Christina Pavlides); Ararat Genealogical Society; Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies, Canberra; Catholic Heritage Commission, Melbourne; Colac and District Historical Society; Echuca Historical Society; Herald and Weekly Times Library; National Archives of Australia, Victorian and Canberra Branches; Public Record Office of Victoria; Salvation Army; and the State Library of Victoria.

In particular, I must thank the following for assistance with pictures and the kind permission to publish. ATSIC (especially Giuseppe Stramandinoli); Fairfax Ltd; Herald & Weekly Times Ltd; Dixson Gallery and Mitchell Library at the Library of New South Wales (special thanks to Jenny Broomhead); Museum Victoria (with great thanks to Mary Morris, Melanie Raberts, Sandra Smith and Gaye Sculthorpe); National Library of Australia; Parliamentary Library, Parliament of Victoria; Royal Historical Society of Victoria; and State Library of Victoria (particularly Diane Reilly and Fiona Jeffrey). Great thanks also for use of photographs to Ivan Couzens, Jan Critchett,Merle Jackomos and family of the late Alick Jackomos, Amy and Robert Lowe, and Elizabeth Tournier. Many unnamed families, whom the privacy laws stop me from thanking by name, gave moral permission to use images found in Museum Victoria and the State Library of Victoria. These people had not seen the book when they agreed to my use of images. I hope they are pleased.

I have included all the known names of individuals in photographic captions. I do this meaning no disrespect, but on the contrary, to dignify the lives of those in the past by acknowledging their existence.

I owe an immense debt to the readers of my manuscript.My research assistants, Corinne Manning and Antoinette Smith, read the manuscript and provided sane advice and much warm support. Bain Attwood, friend and fellow historian, offered many thoughtful and detailed comments on the final manuscript. John Hirst, long-time friend and colleague, for whom I always write, again read every word, giving fierce advice and much quiet encouragement. My publisher at Allen & Unwin, Elizabeth Weiss, extended wise thoughts about audience and presentation,my editor Karen Gee meticulously guided production and my copyeditor, Edwina Preston, made my writing more precise and pleasurable.

My family gave me unfettered support. Two Burmese cats—Cocoa and Sandy—helped the hundred days I actually spent at the computer pass more easily, curled up as they often were at my elbow, occasionally strolling across the keys. My young adult children, Katherine and Matthew, tolerated my obsession with the book, asking after progress and always offering bemused encouragement and often a coffee. My wife,Margaret Donnan, remains my rock, despite her own busy career. Her willingness to take more than her share of domestic life when writing became intense was unbounded.Her love sustained my belief in this project, when at times I thought the book might never appear.

As for my readers, I can only have hopes.

Richard Broome 
June 2004 
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REFLECTIONS

The richness and beauty of the Victorian countryside is evident to any traveller. In 1835 its vista, shaped by Aboriginal burning to create fine pasture for game, moved the NSW Surveyor Major Thomas Mitchell to call it Australia felix—happy south land.He saw it as prize left for Englishmen by God.Mitchell’s claim was wrong, in that Victoria was not a prize left by God, but one wrestled from Aboriginal people—the original owners and occupiers—in a fierce and determined colonial struggle.

Times long ago 

Aboriginal oral traditions still relate that a formless and empty world was vitalised by great ancestors in ancient times.Many Victorian groups believe Bunjil, the eaglehawk man, brought such life. He shaped the surface of the land and made it bountiful. He carved images of people out of bark and breathed life into them. He gave the people spears and digging sticks and taught them how to hunt and gather. He also gave them a code for living. Another version of his creation powers collected from the Woiwurrung by a settler, Richard Howitt in the 1840s was that Bunjil held his hand to the sun and warmed it. He then turned it to the earth, which caused it to open and people emerged and danced a corroboree called gayip. The Wotjobaluk believed the great ancestors, the Bram Bram brothers, also helped Bunjil to shape and name the land and made humans out of a tree. In Gippsland, the Gunai believed their great father was not Bunjil but Munga-ngana, who taught the people how to live and how to act.1

Non-Aboriginal scientists prefer to listen to what the bones say, believing that people evolved in the cradle of humanity, now thought to be Africa, some million or more years earlier. These early people later migrated to Asia and finally Australia, at least 40,000 years ago, in a masterly feat of ancient voyaging between islands. As more bones are unearthed, the age of Aboriginal society in Australia keeps increasing. Seemingly old human remains, the ‘Talgai cranium’ and ‘Cohuna cranium’, were found in 1886 and 1925 respectively, but their age was unclear. In 1940 a cranium was found at Keilor by a quarryman, which, despite early extravagant claims, is now thought to be about 15,000 years old. In the late 1960s an avalanche of evidence about Aboriginal antiquity emerged. Skeletal material of forty individuals was found by Alan Thorne at Kow Swamp near Cohuna on the Murray River in the late 1960s and dated between 10–13,000 years old. Amidst the salt pans and searing heat of Lake Mungo, north of the Murray near Wentworth, ancient camp sites and skeletal remains were discovered by Jim Bowler in 1968 onwards. These remains were dated to 30,000 years ago, possibly more. Aboriginal Victoria is proving to be very old indeed.2
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Bunjil and his dogs, Bunjil’s Cave, Grampians. (Courtesy of Museum Victoria) 



At least 1,600 generations of Aboriginal people have made a continuous life in Victoria. People experienced massive environmental changes that reshaped their lives. A cooling and drying of the world, with average temperatures 5° C lower than today, climaxed about 20,000 years ago. This made life more difficult, changed the ecology and food supply, and extinguished some species, including the giant forms of current Australian fauna. Global warming thereafter led to a rising of the seas by 100–150 metres over 15,000 years, which flooded coastlines, forming Bass Strait and Port Phillip Bay 9,000 years ago. Levels only stabilised to near current heights 6,000 years ago. The Victorian land mass was reduced by one fifth in this process, causing slow but massive alterations to tribal territories.Volcanic activity in the Colac–Port Fairy region, some of it at Tower Hill near Warrnambool as recently as 7,000 years ago, also changed the landscape.3

Human knowledge is cumulative and piecemeal. Over millennia a great Aboriginal cultural traditon evolved. Ideas about creation, life, death, species and people, formed in relationship to a changing land, are revealed in human remains. Burials of diverse kinds occurred: cremations, placement of remains in the ground in various positions, burials in trees and caves. Some individuals were interred with possessions, and along the Murray River, human remains were discovered wearing gypsum grave caps. This is evidence both of a sense of an after-life and of cultural diversity among early Aboriginal groups. Surviving stories of the great ancestors collected by early settlers clearly indicate a moral and imaginative life.

Artworks reveal a great tradition as well.Art seen by early settlers was painted on bodies and bark or drawn in sand and much, therefore, has not survived. However, rock art sites survive particularly in the Grampians-Gariwerd region of western Victoria, where 100 sites have been found containing animal figures, bird tracks, and stencilled hands. Recent dating by a La Trobe University archaeological team suggested the occupation of these rock shelters occurred 20,000 years ago. This art is often overlaid by other art, different in colour and style.Aboriginal art is traditionally refreshed as well. Layers upon painted layers exist, suggesting a continuous but changing tradition.4

Technological change over long periods reveals an adaptation to the altered climate. New tools emerged, indigenous to Australia, such as the returning boomerang, whose subtle aerodynamics indicate a long period of honing its perfection without the aid of design drawings, books or a wind tunnel. Australian tools shifted from stone to greater use of wood and bone and became smaller as the technology was refined.5Strategies for hunting Australian animals that jumped, ran and burrowed were devised, using stealth, diversions, hiding and disguises. Massive nets were made out of fibre to trap ducks, which hunters caused to swoop low at the end of a billabong. Baskets were woven to trap fish corralled in waterways, and fish hooks, nets and barbed spears were developed for fishing. Many of these changes encouraged Aboriginal hunters and gatherers to become semi-sedentary.

The eel fisheries of western Victoria were first sighted in early colonial times. Below Mount William in 1841, George Augustus Robinson, the Chief Aboriginal Protector, described a vast network of channels and weirs, hectares in size, dug into the soil and rock of the wetlands to connect swamps, floodways and watercourses. At strategic places, fences and baskets channelled and trapped eels. Archaeologists have since studied these waterworks, dug with sticks and wooden dishes. They revealed a massive effort which suggested an intensification of food gathering some 5,000 or so years ago, due to population pressures, a preference for a more sedentary life, or for the power that would flow from creating sufficient foodstocks to hold great meetings for the purposes of trade and ritual. Other such works exist at Toolondo, Lake Bolac, Darlot Creek and Heywood. The remarkable thing is that some of these channels purposefully connect the seaward and inland waterways to enlarge the range and catch of fresh water eels (anguilla australis), which travel between sea and river in their life-cycle. Robinson also described groups of huts with low stone walls and wicker and turf-domed sides and roofs built beside these eel farms, which suggest a more sedentary form of living.Groups of earth mounds for houses and camps have also been found near eeling sites.6

New political forms emerged from this economic activity. Scientist– historian Jared Diamond and others have argued that in human history a surplus of food leads to greater complexity, socially, economically and politically, as occurred in the fertile crescent in the Middle East over 7,000 years ago.7New technologies, power structures and specialisations would have been needed to organise such novel food production. It has been claimed by anthropologists that power in Aboriginal society was shared by older men and was consensual in nature. Chiefs or ‘big men’ did not traditionally exist, but were created by Europeans seeking to negotiate with an opposite number. However, fish farming suggests a hierarchical political structure, as such a structure would have been needed to organise the immense labour involved in creating kilometres of channels. Archaeologist Harry Lourandos has argued that intensification of food gathering in Aboriginal communities was for political reasons and tribal prestige.8James Dawson, who collected evidence from Western District Aboriginal informants in the 1870s—evidence which was ‘approved of by them before being written down’—was told that ‘every tribe has its chief, who is looked upon in the light of a father, and whose authority is supreme’.9Perhaps ‘big men’ existed beyond the eel and fish farms. In 1970 skeletal remains were found of a 188cm male buried 7,000 years ago at Lake Nitchie near Wentworth. The individual was encircled by a necklace of 162 meticulously and laboriously chiselled Tasmanian Devils’ teeth, suggesting a man of high degree.10 The Aboriginal Protectors in the 1840s were certain there were chiefs in central Victoria as well,William Thomas remarking: ‘each tribe has a chief, who directs all its movements’.11

When Europeans arrived, Aboriginal people enjoyed an intricate social structure, invisible to most Europeans and only recently painstakingly reconstructed by anthropologists. For instance, Billibellary, otherwise known as Jika Jika (one of the signatories of the Batman Treaty), was the leader or ‘chief ’ of the Wurundjeri-willam clan, which owned the land from north of the Yarra River at Melbourne to Mount William near Lancefield. Clans were patrilineal descent, land-owning groups, perhaps 300–500 strong, composed of people who were all of the one totemic division (moiety), being either bunjil (eaglehawk) or waa (crow). Billibellary’s people called him ngurungaeta (clan head or ‘chief ’). His clan was one of five like-minded, land-owning groups, sharing a common dialect and coalescing loosely as Woiwurrung people: woi being their language name and ‘wurrung’ the word for ‘mouth’ or ‘speech’. The Woiwurrung were perhaps 1,500–2,500 in number. Four other similarly sized cultural–language groups of central Victoria, the Boonwurrung (Westernport), Wathawurrung (Geelong), DjaDjawur-rung (Bendigo) and Daungwurrung (Goulburn), existed in a loose confederation with the Woiwurrung. They all called themselves Kulin and shared a common language. The Kulin intermarried, but generally outside their wurrung to avoid marrying near kin, and always to a person of the opposite division or moiety: a bunjil person (eaglehawk) had to marry a waa (crow). Each Aboriginal person thus had multiple identities, that of their moiety, clan, language group and confederation, which most European observers found almost impossible to fathom.

This was the pattern over most of Victoria in which there were about thirty cultural–language groups formed by hundreds of clans or landowning groups. These thirty cultural–language groups comprised perhaps 60,000 people before Europeans and their diseases arrived. Many of these cultural–language groups (‘tribes’ as they used to be called) interacted and intermarried with adjoining groups, but they were at enmity with those further afield, who were feared as possible enemies and sorcerers. Warfare existed with such distant groups, and even with neighbours, after disputes arose over women, trade or ritual transgressions. However, there were traditional mechanisms for containing excessive violence, especially with neighbouring groups.

Billibellary was the owner of the Mount William axe-head quarry near Lancefield, an important technological resource, still under heritage protection today. Other groups came to Mount William to exchange goods—possum-skin cloaks, ochres, specialty weapons and spears—in return for axe-head blanks, which had been worked from the volcanic quarry face. Once traded, these were either passed on in further trading or, through hours of labour, worked into a ground axe-head against a rock face, and then hafted onto a handle with fibre and tree gum to become a valuable tool. This quarry of volcanic greenstone, a most valuable early industrial site, was the centre of a vast chain of relationships that saw these axe-heads traded up to 200 kilometres over much of central and western Victoria and even across the Murray River. This has been verified by research and chemical analysis. Indeed, Victoria was dotted by trade routes as large groups—hundreds strong—met to feast on eels at Lake Bolac and elsewhere, on bogong moths in the high plains, and, at other places where seasonal food surpluses occurred, to arrange marriages, trade goods and swap ritual.12

It was into this world of dense relations of kinship, trade and cultural exchange, developed over millennia, that Europeans intruded with their ships, guns, livestock and, unconsciously, killer microbes, to create wild new times, in which all became uncertain and much was altered.

Victoria’s distinctiveness 

Aboriginal people clashed with English, Scottish, Irish and other European settlers in Australia (termed Europeans hereafter), in patterns that were common across the continent and, indeed, were reminiscent of indigenous–settler clashes across a global imperial frontier.However, Victoria, as in every other place, had its own distinctive indigenous– settler interactions, which must be briefly outlined here.

Victoria, or the Port Phillip District as it was first named by the British, was founded in a unique context of time and place. It was part of the British expansion into Australia, but one undertaken in the 1830s and 1840s (like South Australia) without significant convict labour and in a moment in which a modicum of imperial conscience prevailed. The absence of convicts meant, perhaps, that more god-fearing settlers were present to counter hard-line settler views. It also meant a greater Aboriginal participation in the early labour market of the pastoral economy. Aboriginal people were thus somewhat more valued as labourers for the first fifteen years of Victoria’s settlement, before the gold rushes flooded the colony with workers.

The 1830s saw the Whigs in power in Britain,who were influenced by a pressure group of humanitarians and evangelicals. The latter group, known as the Clapham Sect, pressured the Whig Liberal Government to enact the Sect’s long-held dream of emancipation for the African slaves in the British West Indies. The Clapham Sect then looked to the plight of indigenous peoples in the British Empire, forging and leading a select committee of the British House of Commons, which made stern pronouncements about British imperial practice and called for the better protection of indigenous peoples. This committee did not seek to end British colonialism, but to ameliorate its effects on indigenous peoples. Its recommendations gave rise to the Port Phillip Protectorate, a unique but failed attempt to make the frontier in Port Phillip a safer place for indigenous people. The presence of this group in London also induced land-hungry entrepreneurs in Hobart, who were seeking land in ‘unexplored’ Victoria to offer the Kulin people of Central Victoria a treaty in Melbourne in 1835, known as the Batman Treaty. It was the only treaty ever extended to Aboriginal people in Australia, but it was not undertaken for pure motives. It was done to persuade the humanitarian lobby in London that Aboriginal people would be protected, in the hope that they would lobby the British Government to allow settlement to take place on the southern coast, which was against the Government’s wishes as it wanted to confine settlement. The absence of convicts and the presence of a humanitarian conscience made for a unique Port Phillip experience and possibly some amelioration of hard-line frontier attitudes, compared to New South Wales at the time. South Australia might have been similar to Victoria, but the private nature of its settlement meant that a similar Protectorate never developed to any significant degree.

Port Phillip settlement was shaped also by the landscape. There was no barrier of mountains as around Sydney, no daunting chain of salt lakes like those that lay north of Adelaide, or forest and mountain ranges that hedged pastoral lands in Tasmania and Queensland. Instead, grasslands lay for hundreds of kilometres to the west and north of Melbourne, into which squatters and their sheep made rapid forays, as fast as any expansion in the history of European colonisation. Aboriginal people were overwhelmed by this swift challenge to their ownership of lands—it did not occur so rapidly in other colonies, or not until the Blue Mountains were breached thirty years after Sydney’s foundation. Only much later was such a rapid spread possible in the far north of Australia, but more limited access to markets meant the northern pastoral industry was slow to expand. In Port Phillip, Melbourne provided easy access to the world and made surrounding pastoral lands a strong, if distant link, in the supply chain of Lancashire’s woollen mills.

While the landscape encouraged the rapid overwhelming of Aboriginal groups, the Port Phillip Protectorate ameliorated the impact. So too did the fire-arms technology available on the Port Phillip frontier. Muzzle-loading, smooth-bore rifles, with gunpowder and pan, or percussion cap ignition systems, were less formidable weapons than the more accurate rapid-fire, breech-loading and rifled weapons of the post-1850s frontier. Thus spear and gun were more evenly matched on the Port Phillip frontier than on northern frontiers. Racial thinking was still emerging in the 1830s and 1840s, which made attitudes on the Victorian frontier less hard-lined than those that dominated on later northern frontiers. However, the intensity of the struggle over land in Port Phillip meant that the Aboriginal to European loss of life ratio, through violence on the Port Phillip frontier, was high at about twelve Aboriginal deaths to every European death.

The post-frontier world was also different in Victoria. The gold rushes brought perhaps the most educated and liberal group of migrants to Australia of the whole colonial period. These migrants forged a colonial conscience about indigenous people in Victoria in the 1850s, out of which emerged the first protective legislation enacted by a colonial government. This legislation created a unique Aboriginal administration and a network of Aboriginal reserves and missions. As Aboriginal people moved on and off reserves and missions, most experienced the Protection Board’s regime. This system was replicated by NSW authorities increasingly from the 1880s.

After 1886 Victorian governments began to dismantle this reserve system out of fear of creating poor houses and permanent Aboriginal lands, and did so in the face of fierce Aboriginal opposition over more than a generation. During the 1930s an Aboriginal political movement emerged from this struggle, focused on the Kulin and Yorta Yorta people. They remained at the forefront of Aboriginal political struggles for land and rights until the 1960s.

During the period of dismantling protective administration, successive Victorian governments denied that people of ‘mixed descent’ were Aboriginal, and refused to attend to their special needs. This became increasingly easy to do as the Victorian Aboriginal population plunged to about 500 in the 1920s, the lowest indigenous population level of any colony, except for Tasmania. Victoria, once progressive in Aboriginal administration, fell behind other State administrations in these years, as its Protection Board went almost into hibernation. In the 1950s the Victorian Aboriginal administration was pulled into line by Aboriginal and humanitarian agitation from within the State, and Paul Hasluck’s assimilation push at the federal level. By then, the Victorian story was becoming more like those of other States, a situation that increased with federal control of Aboriginal affairs from the 1970s.

However, the experience of Aboriginal Victorians remains distinctive because of the unique family and group stories they tell, and their unique struggles to be free of the colonial past. The stories they tell about the past—‘in them days’, to quote their Aboriginal English—form a rich account into which this history has tapped.



Part One

WILD TIMES 

1800–1850 

The meeting, clashing and entangling of cultures creates wild times—times of excitement, drama, fear, and unpredictability. So it was with Port Phillip from 1800 to 1850 as European intruders, invaders, and settlers encroached on the lands of Aboriginal Victorians.

The Europeans wielded power through the guns they brought, the sheep they grazed over Aboriginal lands, and the structures of new language, new law, new administration and new ideas— capitalism and Christianity—they introduced. They imposed their power on the land by naming it, calling it first ‘Port King’, then ‘the Port Phillip District’, and finally ‘Victoria’, all names of distant English governors and monarchs.Aboriginal names were generally overridden. The Europeans asserted their power over the Aboriginal people too, by calling them ‘natives’, ‘savages’, the ‘lowest in the hierarchy of races’, and setting down their characteristics as a people, claiming to know them. Meanwhile the Aboriginal population was being virtually decimated, falling by eighty per cent.

But these wild times were not one-sided times. The story of the Port Phillip frontier was not a story of all-powerful Europeans with guns of steel and aggressive attitudes pitted against peoples with weapons of wood, who passively gave way. All frontiers are complex places. They are robust and fragile at the same time, places where fear and power are experienced simultaneously and by both sides of the cultural divide. The Port Phillip District was no different. Aboriginal people manipulated, accommodated, imitated, and resisted the European presence. They maintained their cultural ideas, practised their rituals, and continued to seek bush tucker along with forays into the European economy. They devised ways of surviving the wild times, although the majority of them did not succeed.

This section tells stories of these wild times from European documents, both detailed and fragmentary, which recorded Aboriginal actions and, occasionally, Aboriginal voices. It is impossible for us to know what Aboriginal Victorians were really like before 1850, but we can glimpse their shadows on a wall cast by European words.
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1. MEETING STRANGERS

Aboriginal people initially experienced the European adventure in Port Phillip (as pre-1851 Victoria was known) like puzzling fragments of a drama played out behind a screen. The Gunai probably spied the sails of Lt James Cook’s Endeavour in April 1770, as he coasted off Gippsland north of Point Hicks, and were bemused by their novelty. The next generation of Gunai secretly watched the shipwrecked crew of the Sydney Cove struggling overland from Ninety Mile Beach to Sydney in 1797. The Gunai also watched George Bass’s whaleboat coast Gippsland as far west as Western Port in 1798. Sealing and whaling ships wallowed past, occasionally to land and refresh. A century later, a missionary in Gippsland, Rev. John Bulmer, noted a song recording these mystical events of sails and men and guns:

mundhanna loornda kathia prappau 
There are white men long way off with great noise 
Muraskin mundhanna yea a main 
Guns there sailing about1

First Encounters 

In 1800 the Lady Nelson traversed Bass Strait, the first known European ship to do so. Two more explorations by this vessel found Lt Murray and his crew surfing the rip into Port Phillip Bay in February 1801. Boon-wurrung men, leaving their women and children hidden, met five crewmen on the sands near Sorrento—white-faced ghosts with strange cloaks—spirit men perhaps. The warriors were wary, but exchanged spears, an axe and a basket for shirts, mirrors, and a steel axe. Dancing followed but tensions ran high, as the British sought water, and the Aborigines queried the strangers’ intent. Armed warriors hidden in nearby bushes alarmed the British. Panicked warnings led to spears flying and firing from muskets and the ship’s cannon, wounding several Boonwurrung as they fled, the English shirts flapping on their backs. Murray termed it a ‘treacherous and unprovoked attack’, but the British were intruders on Boonwurrung land. In early March, the Boonwur-rung met Captain Milius of the Naturaliste alone on the Western Port shore in a more peaceful encounter. The Frenchman stripped, sang and danced to earn their trust. The Aborigines inspected his clothes, body, even teeth (for a sign, perhaps, of initiation) before hurrying away in disbelief.Milius considered them ‘great children’.2

The Boonwurrung faced the first large-scale invasion in 1803. A British convict settlement of 467 people under Lt David Collins disembarked at Sorrento in October 1803 to defend Bass Strait against the French. The Boonwurrung avoided the camp,which was inhabited by as many as the Boonwurrung numbered themselves. Wathawurrung warriors encountered the settlement’s survey parties on the western shores of Port Phillip Bay. Nervous moments occurred at Corio Bay as warriors fingered the clothing and implements of the British. Spears, blankets and food crossed the cultural divide, but hostility also emerged. A remarkable incident occurred at the Werribee River as 200 shouting Wathawurrung, some with faces painted in red, white and yellow clays, bore down upon the surveyors, brandishing spears. Several carried between them, on their shoulders, a warrior wearing a reed necklace, a large septum bone and a massive coronet of swan’s feathers. The alarmed Europeans fired. A Wathawurrung warrior fell, probably victim of a 19-mm lead ball from a ‘Brown Bess’ English service musket, which tore his flesh and bone. The charge halted and the Wathawurrung fled in panic at the deadly lightning from the strangers’ eyes. After eight months, Lt Collins termed Sorrento an ‘unpromising and unproductive country’, and withdrew to establish a settlement in Tasmania at Hobart Town. The Boonwurrung picked over the camp for glass and iron and all the Bay people pondered the meaning of this visit.3
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Sealers’ huts at Western Port (‘Habitation de Phoques au Port Western’) by Louise Auguste de Sainson, 1833. (Courtesy of La Trobe Picture Collection, State Library of Victoria, H84.167/43) 

Several escaped convicts remained behind in Boonwurrung territory. They split up and one of them, William Buckley, headed west around the Bay and survived in the most novel of ways. Buckley, a 195-cm ex-soldier from Cheshire and a convicted thief, was dying of exposure and starvation after failing to live off the land, when the Wathawurrung found him. They believed him to be Murrangurk, a deceased relative, transformed into ghost-like whiteness and strangely bereft of his former language and customs. They took him in, tolerated his oddness and gave him a wife. His tales of the Napoleonic Wars, of armies and horses, of England and London,must have awed them as the knowledge of a spirit traveller, but Buckley always remained a novice in terms of Aboriginal ways.He was assimilated in an extraordinary tale of survival and acceptance, passed down to us in reminiscences he related in old age.4

The Kulin peoples of central Victoria had few contacts with Europeans for a further generation, although they picked up rare European flotsam and jetsam that floated the world’s seas. Sealers and bark cutters occasionally watered in the Bay. The Geordy’s crew clashed with the Boonwurrung during one such visit in 1815, killing one man. Buckley recalled that Wathawurrung saw two Europeans brought ashore, tied to a tree and shot, which horrified them, as they generally punished in less fatal ways. Buckley heard that some Wathawurrung had secretly boarded another visiting vessel to steal glass and iron.When the Frenchman Dumont D’Urville sketched sealers at Western Port in 1826, he drew an Aboriginal woman attending the sealers’ hut. In 1833, nine Woiwurrung and Boonwurrung women and a youth,Yonki Yonka, were captured by sealers, and the women were taken as ‘wives’ to the Bass Strait Islands according to a story told in 1836 by Derrimut, a Boonwur-rung man.Yonki Yonka made it home in 1841 via voyages to Western Australia, and two female descendants of his did so in 1854.5
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‘Native Women Getting Tam Bourn Roots. 27 Ag. 1835’ from John Helder Wedge’s field book. (Courtesy of La Trobe Australian Manuscripts Collection, State Library of Victoria)

Elsewhere coastal groups encountered or watched Europeans. The Gunditjmara observed and perhaps met bark cutters at Port Fairy as early as 1810, while whalers and sealers visited Wilson’s Promontory, Western Port and Portland Bay in the decades before the 1830s. We know nothing of these interactions. Explorers and a temporary British garrison penetrated Western Port in 1826. Numerous Aboriginal groups saw or heard of Captain Charles Sturt as he voyaged the Murray in 1830, and Major Thomas Mitchell as he explored overland to Portland in 1835, leaving puzzling wagon tracks in the soil.6Aboriginal people pondered these events in campfire discussions, and speculated on the scraps of iron and fragments from another world that filtered from the north via three great trading routes: that of the Kulin, of the Wergaia-speaking peoples to the north-west, and the Gunai of Gippsland.

Other things intruded from the north: invisible viruses and bacteria. The most devastating human virus of all, smallpox (variola major) had been endemic in Asia,Africa and Europe for possibly 5,000 years, having killed Pharaoh Ramses V in 1,157 BC. The disease spread through riverine populations of eastern Australia. Residents of early convict Sydney witnessed an outbreak that killed half the local Aboriginal population in 1789. Historians have debated that outbreak’s origin and some have blamed the convict settlement for its introduction.However, smallpox was endemic in Macassar and across the Asian region for several millennia. European contagion certainly did not cause the south-east Australian outbreak of 1830. The weight of evidence suggests that smallpox occasionally spread from Macassan fishermen, who visited northern Australia annually from about 1720 to 1900 in search of trepang (sea slug).

The Asian variety was the most virulent of the various strains of smallpox. Classically, the disease began with raging headaches and high fevers and proceeded to a rash and pustules that covered the body after a week, especially the face, hands and feet, with either a thin spread, or a confluence of lesions in the more virulent forms. Once the pustules broke, the sufferer became even more infectious, and death followed in the second week. The survivors, weak, sore and debilitated, were incapable of caring for themselves for some weeks, particularly as the hard skin on the soles of the feet carried painful scabs for up to a month. Further deaths also occurred from pulmonary and other complications, and from subsequent malnutrition. Survivors were immune to subsequent attacks. The research that assisted smallpox’s global eradication in 1979 indicated that it normally killed sufferers of all ages, but was lightest by far on 10–14-year-olds, and killed more women than men, especially pregnant women. It was endemic in populations over 200,000 where survivors were immune, but could infect and re-infect societies of small, scattered groups. In the Americas, it ravaged indigenous hunting peoples sporadically over three centuries after Cortes’s conquest in 1518, killing between 30 and 100 per cent of tribal populations.7

Smallpox leaves a unique signature by way of pitted marks upon the face. As Lt James Flemming and others observed Aborigines with pockmarked faces in 1803, it is likely the Kulin peoples of central and western Victoria were infected with smallpox in 1790 and then 1830 before they ever met a European.8 William Buckley remembered a ‘complaint which spread through the country, occasioning the loss of many lives, attacking generally the healthiest and strongest, whom it appeared to fix upon in preference to the more weakly. It was a dreadful swelling of the feet, so that they [sufferers] were unable to move about, being also afflicted with ulcers of a very painful kind’.9Indigenous skin diseases—such as yaws—could not kill. Thus Buckley’s recollection of a ‘loss of many lives’, together with the ‘ulcers’ and his description of the state of the feet suggests smallpox.
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Aboriginal ceremony, by William Barak about 1885. (Courtesy of La Trobe Picture Collection, State Library of Victoria, H29640) 

Many Europeans recalled meeting pock-marked Aboriginal people in the 1830s and 1840s. George Haydon, a settler, noted many in early Melbourne were ‘disfigured’ in this way. Dr David Thomas recorded in 1839: ‘I saw several Blackfellows of the Yarra, Goulburn, Geelong, and other tribes, all of them rather advanced in years, having pits of smallpox’.10Settlers in central and western regions of the colony made similar comments. Only Gippsland was free of such observations, which reflected the customary sparse contact between the Gunai of Gippsland and other Victorian groups.11Elderly Aboriginal Murray River men with pock-marked faces told a pastoralist, Peter Beveridge, in the 1840s that a pestilence travelled the Murray sent by malevolent sorcerers from the north. So dreadful was the loss of life that after a time the people were unable to bury their dead and simply fled. Beveridge recalled the elderly spoke of it ‘with such an amount of loathing horror’ as the only time large numbers of people died from one cause.12The Wotjobaluk told John Bulmer it came down the river, and termed it thinba micka.13

William Thomas, the Aboriginal Protector who recorded Aboriginal stories in the 1840s, wrote of the Mindye, the great rainbow snake that lived in the northwest and was controlled by one family. The Mindye could hiss and spread white particles from its mouth, from which ‘disease is inhaled’. Thomas added that ‘when the Mindye is in a district the blacks run for their lives, setting the bush on fire as they proceed, and not stopping to bury their dead or attend to any seized.Many drop down dead on the road’.14In 1843 Europeans witnessed a gageed ceremony in Melbourne meant to ward off epidemics.15This story and ceremony suggest the memory of an horrific incident of disease.

Smallpox infected Aboriginal people, except the Gunai of Gippsland, twice before Europeans arrived, perhaps halving the population each time. Women died at higher rates, impeding population recovery. It is likely that sealers, some of whom captured or bartered for Aboriginal women, introduced venereal bacteria as well. However, any infertility from syphilis was minute compared to the impact of smallpox on mortality and population recovery. Noel Butlin, an economic historian who studied smallpox and modelled its likely impact on the population of south-eastern Australia, believed a south-eastern Aboriginal population of 250,000 (perhaps 60,000 in Victoria) in 1788, was halved around 1790 and again in 1830.16 These new diseases assisted the European conquest.

Managing the Intruders 

Most Aboriginal people shared the notion of a periphery,17an afar place, from which strange things emerged and could be explained. Campfire debates drew on this idea as Aboriginal groups contemplated recent novelties: the Mindye (smallpox) was sent from the northwest; Murran-gurk (Buckley) travelled back from a land of the dead; iron and cloth came from a distant place. However, in 1834, sixty-four years after the first glimpse of Cook’s sails, a deluge of new things began. The Henty family permanently settled the Gunditjmara’s land at Portland Bay in November 1834 with their servants, peculiar livestock and a world of farm technology. In June 1835 John Batman surveyed the future site of Melbourne on behalf of some Van Diemen’s Land (Tasmanian) adventurers, who formed the Port Phillip Association.Aboriginal people struggled to explain the increasing changes and fiercely debated how to manage them. While the numbers of intruders remained small and the indigenous economy was intact, Aborigines exercised considerable influence, but within a few years only marginal control was possible.

The Kulin watched Batman, a Ben Lomond pastoralist from across Bass Strait, as he walked the lands around the Yarra, pronouncing them the ‘most beautiful sheep pasturage I ever saw in my life’.18Batman came with his experience of Aborigines in Van Diemen’s Land, seven ‘Sydney blacks’ as mediators, a treaty to purchase land (the only one ever offered in Australia’s colonisation), and a promise to protect Aboriginal people. His fourteen associates were Hobart officials and educated men: capitalists with a humanitarian streak, who genuinely sought good relations with Aboriginal people, but also knew a treaty might win favour in London for their illegal settlement on the southern coast. After a week the Kulin chose to meet with Batman, who trod their lands with a hungry eye. Through the customary gestures and shared dialects of his ‘Sydney blacks’, Batman communicated his desire to purchase land in exchange for blankets, steel blades, mirrors, beads and ‘a tribute, or rent, yearly’.His performance was respectful of the owners. Batman’s land purchase document was ritualistic, being in the ancient form of a feoffment,which involved marking the land and exchanging a handful of earth. Land purchase had no meaning to the Kulin—for how could a clan sell its religious and social birth right to strangers who did not know the country, its stories, nor how to care for it. However, the Kulin had a notion of welcome and temporary usage for strangers by way of a tander-rum ceremony. Eight Kulin, whom Batman called ‘chiefs’, signed the treaties (there were two involving land around Melbourne and Geelong).

While land soon worth £150,000 to Europeans (3,000 times a shepherd’s annual wage) was ‘signed’ for little in return, it was a deal freely done and one which had meaning for the Kulin, not as a purchase, but as a hospitality, and perhaps as an agreement regarding the use of resources. Besides, the Kulin knew the value of iron, since Batman had found some sharpened into a blade in a woman’s dilly bag.We should see the acceptance of the treaty as a Kulin political strategy (as it was for Batman), and not simply as some white trick or swindle, as five of the eight signatories were Kulin clan heads, astute men who knew what they were about with strangers and were not adverse to killing dangerous interlopers. They had gathered, debated and decided to meet Batman and deal with him, not kill him. Batman and his men with white skins, who came in ships, possessed steel and wrote on paper, were exotic and were thus treated differently to Aboriginal strangers and enemies. That night Batman’s ‘Sydney blacks’ staged a corroboree to the delight of the Kulin, who in turn presented Batman with possum-skin cloaks and weapons on his departure. While both parties acknowledged the treaties—Batman renewed his tribute on the first anniversary and the Kulin’s descendants give it a positive significance to this day—the British government rejected them immediately, in order that the Crown’s claim of 1770 to own Aboriginal lands would not be questioned.19

The Wathawurrung observed Batman’s party, led by his brother Henry and including several ‘Sydney blacks’, as they camped at Indented Head to guard their land deal, while John Batman hurried back to Launceston. Wathawurrung investigated the camp, with its huts and garden laid out in straight lines, as if in accordance with some ritual. Some helped with the work. Within a month of Batman’s treaties, William Buckley rejoined white society, claiming he was a shipwrecked soldier. He took days to retrieve his English language.20When John Wedge, a former government surveyor and one of the Port Phillip Association members, visited in August 1835, he recorded the first brief ethnographic descriptions of Aboriginal Victorians, shaped more by his preconceived ideas of ‘savages’ and Buckley’s information than by any careful observation. Wedge claimed the Wathawurrung were slaves to the food search, made their women drudges, practised cannibalism (but only after warfare), and infanticide (due to the needs of extended breast-feeding of their young).21Joseph Gellibrand, a barrister and another Association member, visited the following January. They traversed the ‘purchased’ lands with Buckley, who was made Superintendent of the Aborigines by the Association. Gellibrand was touched when Buckley met his Wathawurrung kinsfolk near Geelong, as they ‘were all clinging around him and tears of joy and delight [were] running down their cheeks’.22Gellibrand termed the Kulin a ‘fine race of men many of them handsome in their persons and all well made. They are strong and athletic very intelligent and quick in their perceptions’. The women were ‘modest’ in their behaviour and dress. He was certain the Kulin could be brought to the ‘habits of Industry and Civilization’.23

While finally unanimous in their dealings with Batman, the Kulin disagreed on how to deal with John Pascoe Fawkner, who landed at the Yarra in October 1835, with his wife, servants, farm and household stock, but without a treaty or Aboriginal intermediaries. About 300 Kulin—Woiwurrung, Boonwurrung (both from the Melbourne area), Wathawurrung (Geelong region) and Daungwurrung (Goulburn River)—came to Melbourne in October 1835, allegedly summoned by Buckley to meet John Batman whose return was imminent. Fawkner recorded in his reminiscences that some Kulin helped him unload and erect his house and in return he gave out biscuits, potatoes and clothing, but he made no mention of knives or axes. Some Aborigines befriended Fawkner’s workman William Watkins and they swapped words as they worked. In late October Fawkner recorded in his diary: ‘the Blacks we learnt intended to murder us for our goods’.24Derrimut, as one of the informants was later identified, soon warned Watkins (through William Buckley) of an attack by the Wathawurrung and Daungwurrung people. In mid-December more threats were made, perhaps stirred up by Batman’s ‘Sydney blacks’, who, playing a double game, as Fawkner recorded, ‘told the natives that we, Batman and me, intended to kill them all’.25Derrimut again warned of an attack, Fawkner recording, with archetypal fear of the ‘savage’ that ‘if they succeed they will kill and eat us all’. The Europeans quietly armed. They observed that the Kulin women and children were now absent, and that the warrior men were dragging spears between their toes and had weapons concealed under their cloaks. Fawkner shot into a tree and Buckley was told to order them off. The Kulin scattered. Fawkner and Batman then persuaded them to move across the river, and ferried them there under guard, burning their canoes to impede their return.26

What politics was evident here? Why did the up-country Kulin want to attack and the coastal Kulin to befriend? Traditionally, the Melbourne and Goulburn peoples were distrustful of each other, so to disagree on this matter was not unusual. The Europeans’ different approach might have caused the split. Yet it was the up-country Kulin, the Daungwurrung and Wathawurrung who did not own the land about Melbourne—although they had rights to it through intra-Kulin marriage—who threatened attack. Unlike Batman, Fawkner had not shown respect through the right protocols and ceremony. Unlike Batman’s party, Fawkner’s group had not been introduced to land through dance and ceremony. And, unlike Batman, Fawkner had not exchanged steel blades,which were so desired that thefts of axes occurred from Fawkner’s camp within a month. Was it anger at Fawkner’s lack of respect, or at his lack of generosity as he intruded on Kulin land, that caused the attempted attack by up-country Kulin? What role did Batman’s ‘Sydney blacks’ play, mixing as they did with the Kulin and spreading false rumours? What do we make of Derrimut’s actions? Why did he warn Watkins? Derrimut was a clan head of the Boonwurrung on whose land Fawkner was building a house. To see him as a ‘collaborator’ seeking power, as some have, seems unlikely, since he enjoyed power in his traditional world.27Did he (unlike the Goulburn people) see negotiation rather than violence as the way to control these interlopers? It appears that Billibellary, one of the signatories of Batman’s treaty, and Benbo, another Aboriginal elder, also shared Derrimut’s desire for negotiation and warned Fawkner of an impending clash.28

Derrimut exchanged names with Fawkner, a key way of establishing kinship ties and of assimilating outsiders. As the historian Jan Penney wrote of similar name exchange on the Murray: ‘names possessed power and indicated relationships, which in turn carried obligatory rights and duties’.29Derrimut was given trousers and a knife and, together with his kinsman Bait Banger, became Fawkner’s huntsman, having the use of his gun, knives and boat. Fawkner in turn was bound to the Boonwur-rung. In 1836 the two Aboriginal men travelled with Fawkner to Hobart and met Lieutenant Governor Arthur, who presented Derrimut with a drummer boy’s uniform.30Benbo and his wife Kitty built a hut in John Batman’s garden in a similar binding gesture, and made a four-poster bed, which Benbo placed in his hut as ‘he wished to do as the white men did’.31
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‘Native Encampment on the Banks of the Yarra’, J. Cotton, 1842. (Courtesy the La Trobe Picture Collection, State Library of Victoria, H252) 

The members of the Port Phillip Association assisted initial peacemaking. One member, John Wedge, investigated violence against Aborigines by sealers at Western Port, while Gellibrand sent three shepherds back to Hobart for molesting an Abriginal woman: ‘all the punishment which we had the power but not all that we had the will to inflict’.32While New South Wales’s Governor Bourk awaited orders from Eng about the illegal settlement of the Port Phillip Distric, he sent James Simpson, a magistrate, to settle the growing unruliness among the 177 settlers and the Aborigines. A town meeting in June 1836 agreed to form rules to establish law and order and pledged to protect the estimated 800 Aborigines in the area and to report aggressions by or against them. It was a noble sentiment, but one bound as well by fear, as the meeting also pledged not to allow the Aborigines to possess or know firearms.33

Encounters—well-meaning, confused and violent—occurred in Port Phillip over the next decade, as Aboriginal people met white strangers from other worlds and learned to deal with them. The wild times were just beginning.
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2. MELBOURNE—AN 
ABORIGINAL DOMAIN 

The Kulin and other Aboriginal people camped about the place the British called ‘Melbourne’ more frequently than was customary because of the European presence.As Edward Curr, a young squatter, recalled, in 1839 Aborigines ‘constantly wandered about in large numbers, halfnaked, and armed with spears in the usual way. To hear them cooeying and shouting to one another, in shrill voices and strange tongues, in the streets had a strange effect’.1 George McCrae, a youth in 1840, described the Kulin as ‘lively, loquacious, good-humoured and honest’. They walked unselfconsciously before packs of mangy dogs, cradling their boomerangs and spears,with possum-skin rugs or government blankets draped about them, fastened by a wooden toggle.Men and women wore ochre-dyed string headbands, adorned with feathers. Some had clay tobacco pipes stuck in their headbands or through their septum. The women wore necklaces of kangaroo teeth, and some had ribbons in
their hair and metal rings or bracelets on their hands and wrists. McCrae thought some of the women ‘well-favoured and really pretty’. Their children ‘were bright-eyed, interesting and intelligent’.2 McCrae’s
account reveals an Aboriginal confidence. This English town was on their domain-Boonwurrung and Woiwurrung land-and on the site of a traditional Kulin meeting place.

About the town 

Melbourne’s foodstuffs lured the Kulin and others from afar. Richard Howitt, an English settler and literary man, saw Aborigines ‘loaded with sheep’s head and feet’ heading for the Yarra bank to bake them in ashes, while the squatter Edward Curr observed them at sunset ‘retiring to their camps on the outskirts of the town, well supplied with bread and meat’.3At first the Aborigines were given food, which was plentiful in a pastoral boomtown, but they were soon required to chop wood and carry water from the Yarra in return. A traveller, A. Russell, wrote in 1839 that both groups were ‘on the best of terms possible, families having regular visits from some one or other of them, who perform at times little services, getting clothing, etc in return’.4Other Aborigines made claims on food and goods, by such kinship-aligning techniques as taking the names of Europeans.
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‘Collins Street, Town of Melbourne, New South Wales, 1839’ by William Knight. (Rex Nan Kivell Collection, courtesy of the National Library of Australia, AN5695310) 



These early years in Melbourne were a special period in black–white relations, for they were marked by affability, and driven by a curiosity and an openness of view and manner on both sides. Europeans were intrigued by these people who looked and acted so differently, had no permanent structures, no visible signs of government or religion, no visible use of the land, yet who appeared healthy and happy. One settler wrote to the Launceston Chronicle in 1836 that the men were ‘fine, tall, well-made fellows, and the[ir] physiognomy and general appearance by no means disagreeable’.5The squatter John Cotton described their greased hair that hung in ringlets and commented: ‘I have seen some of the blacks walking the streets of Melbourne who might have been termed the native dandies of the town. Their walk is usually very stately and in general they are animated and always ready to smile and laugh . . . There is great beauty in the well-moulded limbs and forms of the young native’.6

Others like settler Richard Howitt were more ambivalent. His views were strongly ethnocentric, but not racist; that is, he believed he was culturally superior to Aboriginal people, but without subscribing to the idea of biological superiority and separateness as well. Thus Howitt believed that while the people were ‘as low as human nature can descend’, they were yet ‘human creatures—of the same, I am convinced, origin with our race’. Howitt believed Aboriginal people were shaped not by racial attributes, but by an environment that was ‘destitute’ of domesticable plants and animals. They were ‘very erect and dignified in the[ir] attitudes and motions’, the men very ‘venerable looking, with quite Roman-like nobility of contour’, and some of the women ‘pleasing-looking’. He penned a poem, ‘The Native Woman’s Lament’, which ended: ‘the food, the life, the land is gone / and we must perish in the wild’. However, he disliked the greased and ochred bodies of the Aborigines, which made them the ‘ugliest pieces of human nature’.7

Other Europeans were more tough-minded in their attitudes to Aboriginal people.Members of the middle and labouring classes, rarely recorded their thinking, so we can only know their views from their actions. Shopkeepers traded with the Kulin and employed them at times. Some who lived life rough fraternised with the ‘blacks’, as they termed Aboriginal people, working alongside them, drinking with them and sleeping with their women. Fights erupted in these situations as tensions developed. The term ‘savages’ fell easily from white lips. However, antagonisms were initially minimal, and especially so around Melbourne, where the presence of the law and mutual curiosity made relations tolerable.

Aboriginal people were also intrigued by the novelty of all before them. They stopped Europeans in the street to shake their hands and the whites responded positively. Aborigines were keen to understand the newcomers and gain access to the cargoes their ships disgorged. Aboriginal people were attracted to Melbourne in the same way that hunters and gatherers had always moved to the most accessible food sources.8 Presents of flour were preferable to hours of gathering and grinding seed. Gifts of offal were preferable to hunting their own meat down. And Melbourne offered novel stimulants—tea, sugar, tobacco—that their own diet lacked. The Kulin expected access to European food resources in accord with their ideas of reciprocity—whereby kin shared food and goods—and also because of the privileges they felt were their due as landowners. If these strategies failed, they laboured for Europeans, some women offering sexual services.Mostly, however, the Kulin expected bounty, not as handouts, but by right of being landowners.

European actions fuelled these expectations and increased the magnetism of Melbourne. Batman first encouraged Aborigines’ expectations with his treaty, which promised annual payments. In May 1836—the treaty’s first anniversary—he duly issued rice, flour and sugar. Fawkner himself gave out food, usually for work in return, but bent to Aborigines’ demands that sugar be added.9Others were more liberal, expecting little in return, perhaps guilty about the usurpation of land.10Melbourne became a place of plenty via gifts or exchanges.When Governor Bourke arrived in March 1837 to inspect the new town, he gave out blankets, clothing, and a few brass, crescent-shaped neck-plates to denote supposed Aboriginal authority.He received kangaroo meat and a corroboree in return. In late-March 1839 George Augustus Robinson arrived to become Chief Protector of the Aborigines, and the Government sponsored a feast on the north bank of the Yarra, to which all Melbourne was invited. Over 300 Aborigines each consumed or carried away a kilogram of meat and of bread or flour, as well as copious amounts of rice, tea and sugar. The white residents had wine as well, sufficient to make men drunk by nightfall. (Initially the Aborigines were wary of attending, having been told by whites antagonistic to the newly-formed Protectorate that they would be kidnapped. Once there, others told the Kulin the food was poisoned, hence the Aborigines needed much convincing to begin feasting.) There followed an old English sports day, with Kulin racing for tomahawks, spearing a target for ‘white money’ (silver coins), climbing greasy poles for prizes of knives and handkerchiefs and watching fireworks in awe.11The Kulin also held their own conference in Melbourne while food was in abundance.
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‘Native Encampment’ by John Skinner Prout. (Courtesy of La Trobe Picture Collection, State Library of Victoria, H13545) 

These things were long remembered. The Chief Protector, George Augustus Robinson, reported in May 1839 that Aborigines ‘pressingly inquired when the big ship would come with the proffered boon of food and blankets’.12The following September when news emerged of Superintendent Charles La Trobe’s imminent arrival to become the colony’s first Superintendent, the Kulin anticipated another feast of tea, sugar, flour, meat and tobacco. In January 1840, a Daungwurrung man told Protector Thomas, who was trying to get him to leave Melbourne, that ‘plenty long time ago Mereguk [Mister] Batman come here Black-fellows stop long long time all Blackfellow, plenty bread, plenty sugar, blanket, etc’.13

Though effective, this food-gathering strategy in Melbourne created problems. The Kulin were gradually de-skilled and pauperised once they stopped making possum-skin cloaks and catching bush foods, relying on blankets, flour, and mutton instead. With each year the number of Aboriginal campers in Melbourne increased. In April 1839 there were 300 campers by the Yarra, mostly Kulin from the Woiwur-rung, Boonwurrung and Daungwurrung groups, gathered around 60 campfires. Most stayed about three months. Increasingly, other upcountry people voluntarily came to Melbourne, some travelling down on drays or with stock working for settlers, while others came to look or transact Aboriginal business. In January 1844 there were 675 Aborigines near the town, including groups from the Campaspe and Loddon River regions and from the north-west. By mid-year, there were still 447 spread in a semi-circle in four encampments a few kilometres from Melbourne, each nearest their own country: the Goulburn and Devil’s River people to the north; the Mt Macedon people to the north-west; the Yarra and Goulburn people to the north-east, and Western Port and Barrabool people to the south-east. People came and went to hunt for skins and lyre-bird (bullen bullen) feathers for sale in Melbourne. The four temporary camps became two and then, after a conference, became one.14

It is extremely difficult to assess the degree to which colonisation deprived the country of bush foods, forcing Aboriginal people to seek European food in Melbourne. By 1840 over 700,000 sheep grazed central and western Victoria and the number doubled by 1842, while the cattle numbers doubled to 100,000 in that time.15In mid-1844, one ‘upcountry black’ complained to William Thomas, an assistant Aboriginal Protector, that ‘the bush big one hungry, no bellyful like it Melbourne’.16 Certainly cloven-footed animals, unlike Australian fauna, compacted the ground and verges of waterholes. They also monopolised the native grasses on which the kangaroo thrived, and their presence caused the kangaroos, emus, bush turkeys and other fauna to retreat to un-pastured regions. Some plant foods were decimated by the stock. The murnong or yam daisy (microseris scapigera) was a staple, its turnip-like roots yielding a vast edible food. However, sheep favoured it, and ate it to the roots. Isaac Battey, who settled the Sunbury District, wrote that murnong gathering ceased after 1846, ‘for the all-sufficient reason that livestock seemingly had eaten out that form of vegetation’.17An Aboriginal man agreed, saying: ‘no murnong, no yam at Port Phillip, too much by one white man bullock and sheep, all gone murnong’.18

The question about scarcity really is: what traditional foods were becoming scarce, and what part of the country was under threat? Resource loss was greatest on Melbourne’s fringe, where land use was most intense from small farming as well as grazing. A landowner near the Bolin Swamp at Bulleen complained that Aborigines had stolen potatoes. Despite the fact that it was the after-harvest gleanings that were taken (which were regarded as a rural labourer’s right in England), William Thomas the assistant Protector was forced to move the Kulin off. He remarked: ‘I could not but feel for the poor blacks. They had till this visit an undisturbed range among the lagoons and supplied themselves for a month or 5 weeks, now one side of the Yarra is forever closed to them’.19Similarly, the banks of other Melbourne creeks were being denied them. By 1844 Thomas wrote: ‘I do not think that of the five tribes who visit Melbourne that there is in the whole five districts enough food to feed one tribe’.20In the nearby ranges, by rivers still open to them, and on the more distant plains, traditional food remained available in the 1840s, but European settlement clearly reduced Aboriginal food supplies, while boosting those of Europeans.

Dependence grew on European foods or on European means of obtaining scarcer bush foods. Guns brought down game—and were fun. Aboriginal men quickly developed a love affair with the gun. Derrimut used Fawkner’s within days of exchanging names with him in late 1835. By 1840 there were 26 firearms in the Kulin’s Yarra camp. Perhaps one in three Kulin adult men possessed one, especially ngurun-gaeta (headmen), such as Billibellary. Geoffrey Blainey has claimed that ‘Aboriginals who chanced to obtain firearms did not care for them’.21 However, William Thomas observed two men at Arthur’s Seat in 1839 ‘cleaning their guns. They had screwdrivers and took the lock to pieces, cleaning barrel and touch hole as carefully as any white man’.22They often left them in Thomas’s care when they departed the Yarra camp. In 1840 the Chief Protector George Robinson observed Kulin men in Melbourne’s gun shops, ‘not only by day but even after dark’.23The Kulin fired guns off at night in the Yarra camp with dangerous exuberance. Guns were certainly prestigious and exciting items, but increasingly they became useful in the search for food. In 1840 Thomas asserted: ‘I have known one gun to be almost the support of an encampment in the Bush’.24

The settlers became increasingly nervous about Aboriginal people possessing guns. In 1840 the NSW Legislative Council banned Aboriginal gun-owners except with a magistrate’s permission. The Kulin were angry when their guns were confiscated without recompense. Thomas commented only half in jest that an Aboriginal gun-owner ‘would as soon part with his lubra or child as his gun’.25This Act was disallowed by the British Government in 1841 on the grounds that Aboriginal people were theoretically equal before the law.26However, the settlers’ fear of Aboriginal guns was somewhat misplaced. These smooth-bore,muzzle-loading weapons were inaccurate, slow to load and less of a threat than the accuracy and rapid fire of a handful of spears.27Besides, Aboriginal people rarely used guns aggressively against whites, and their own domestic violence and inter-group fighting were almost exclusively engagements with waddies and spears.William Thomas explained to an inquiry in 1858 that ‘although scarcely an influential black but has a gun, yet they never use them in battle: they consider guns a cowardly means of defence’.28However, some squatters in the 1840s claimed warriors attacked them wielding both spear and gun.29And in 1838 Jack Weatherly of the Boonwurrung related a revenge story to a squatter, James Clow, to excuse his absence in the bush for weeks with Clow’s guns, supposedly on a quick hunting trip after lyre-birds. Weatherly explained that before white settlement the Gunai killed 25 Boonwur-rung at Western Port in a sneak attack, so he and other Boonwurrung ventured to Gippsland for revenge, killing seven warriors and some old men and children using Clow’s guns.30

The Kulin rejected many European novelties, but embraced some enthusiastically. Dogs became great favourites, Aboriginal groups being trailed by packs of ‘half-starved’ dogs. These were European dogs, not native dogs (dingoes). Aborigines kept them as pets, and embraced them as such, literally so at night for their warmth. William Thomas claimed that ‘if a European’s favourite dog but one night sleeps in a black encampment, it will do all it can to get back to them’.31Europeans kept dogs as work animals, rarely cuddling and fondling them as did Aborigines. Aboriginal attitudes to dogs, while shared by many dog-owners today, were seen by colonists as spoiling, and even as unnatural and abhorrent.

Aborigines also embraced metal items once they appreciated their properties. They fingered the metal buttons on European jackets, collected scraps of iron hoop and marvelled at the blacksmith’s forge. Reverend William Waterfield displayed his watch, compass and magnet in a Melbourne street to a Kulin man, who ‘seemed quite astonished and in extasies [sic]’.32Blades appealed to their utilitarian sense. Peter Beveridge recalled being told about the intense Aboriginal interest in the first steel axe seen on the Murray, and similar scenes must have been enacted elsewhere. People travelled from afar to view the axe, and ‘when it was produced to their astonished gaze,much ejaculation and clucking with the tongue ensued’.33It was duly passed around and tested on wood. Aborigines in Melbourne started to shave with blades and glass fragments and, when invited to dinner with Europeans, mastered knife and fork.

These people were not ‘savages’, gaping in the face of magical innovations, but people willing to incorporate new artefacts, foods and technologies into their culture once they appreciated their advantages. The botanist Daniel Bunce described possum-skin cloaks being embossed with traditional designs—kangaroos, emus, human figures— not with sharp stones or shells as before contact, but with fragments of glass or the sharpened edge of a metal spoon.34In his account of the metal axe, Beveridge noted that a debate emerged about who would have access to it, the decision being that those making canoes could use the metal axe. This indigenising of items of new technology— fitting them into the social structure—occurred with the gun as well. Aboriginal men, not women—and indeed only ‘influential’ men at that—predominantly possessed them.
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‘Corroboree’ from Australia Terra Cognita (1854) by William Blandowski. (Courtesy of Mitchell Library, State Library of New South Wales, PXE864) 

All sorts of novelties and innovations were being adopted, and on both sides of the frontier, as items flowed across the cultural divide. Wild quail and crayfish were swapped for sugar and sheep’s kidneys. For every bottle, blade and gun crossing over, spears, clubs, and baskets moved in the other direction. As Mrs P. Russell wrote to George Russell, a squatter, in 1839: ‘When you ransack the Native Dens could you not secure for us some of their spears . . . they are rarities here’.35Traffic was heaviest in the indigenous direction, partly because Aborigines were more curious than self-possessed Europeans, but also because there were more visible European novelties than Aboriginal ones, whose culture possessed fewer material items. Besides, as Aborigines were less powerful in the colonial relationship, they experienced more pressure to change.Aborigines embraced flour, tea and sugar, but only a few settlers cultivated murnong and other native foods in their kitchen gardens.

Words flowed across the cultural boundary as well. Europeans talked of miams (dwellings), of kangaroos, of corroborees (ritual dancing), of quombaed (sleeping). English words also travelled the other way. As Richard Howitt wrote of Aboriginal speech: ‘[A] vast deal of English and the native language we heard the first few days, chopped up together, and odd enough it sounded’.36Again, the flow was weighted in the indigenous direction. Aboriginal people, who routinely spoke several dialects, quickly mastered sufficient English to deal with the new realities, whereas few colonists learned Aboriginal tongues. Some Aboriginal English was structurally close to English, such as Billibel-lary’s question to Thomas ‘What for you go away?’, while other remarks were less so, such as the man who complained about a lack of free bread when Governor Bourke visited: ‘plenty gammon that one Governor no give it—plenty hungry blackfellows’.37

Once Aborigines mastered English words and mimicked English gestures, conversations were possible with settlers and knowledge and resources extracted. Richard Howitt saw Aboriginal people conversing with colonists in the street and shaking their hands. They requested or were given ‘white money’ (silver), food and tobacco. They discussed the making of glass and metal. They debated theology, being sceptical of Christian miracles such as the Resurrection, and showing preference for God the father.As one Kulin man exclaimed on being shown an engraving of baby Jesus: ‘such a fellow was no good—he was weak and small, and could not protect them—no good little Jesus, very good the old man’.38With a great ear for languages, they spoke the new words in their own soft,musical tone, but with colonial accents. They enjoyed singing, expressing pleasure at Rev. Waterfield’s choral service, and sang about town and bush. George Robinson met one group near Melbourne in 1840, who sang in a perfect brogue: ‘Hura my boys, it’s time for us to go bonny highland laddie’, and Howitt heard a man singing: ‘I’d be a butterfly’.39

Colonial dangers 

Some novelties were dangerous, notably alcohol. At first Aboriginal people were loath to try it, but by 1839 Daniel Bunce claimed that ‘Benbo is the only teetotaller I ever met with among the aborigines’, implying all the rest drank alcohol.40There are no accounts of sensible use of alcohol by Aborigines—perhaps it was not thought worthy of reporting—but plenty about alcohol abuse. Reverend Waterfield reported that ‘many of the poor natives were made drunk by brutal whites’, the idea often being to make them fight each other and thus gain amusement at their expense.41Aboriginal use of alcohol at best led to some time in the stocks, and at worst caused deadly harm among those with little experience of and tolerance to its perils. In March 1839 James Dredge, an assistant Protector, recorded that a woman died from drinking brandy, a litre being found in her stomach, and three days later one of Batman’s Aboriginal servants from Sydney drowned after drinking ‘a large quantity of rum’.42An amendment to the Publican’s Act 1838 made it an offence to sell or give Aborigines liquor, and some convictions and hefty £5 fines followed.43But there were always whites willing to supply Aboriginal people with alcohol for some favour or other.William Thomas even suspected the publican of the now-prestigious Melbourne Club of doing so.

Derrimut was among the young men who experimented with hard drinking, perhaps as a way of managing their altered world, or just lashing out. William Thomas frequently witnessed drunkenness and uproar, which made Aborigines ‘more like maniacs than rational beings’.44In November 1839, Derrimut and Joe (a Sydney Aboriginal man in Batman’s employ), arrived at the Yarra camp wet and roaring drunk, as they had fallen into the Yarra. Derrimut yelled abuse at whites, who he claimed had stolen his hat and stick.He then threatened to spear his own mother, whom Thomas sheltered—‘Derrimut is otherwise very fond of his mother,’ Thomas wrote. He also recorded in despair, having been up until 3 a.m., that ‘drunkenness and swearing is all that these people seem to have learned, and firing off a gun’.45Settlers like Richard Howitt considered Aborigines ‘firm as marble to retain their old freedom and habits, and soft as wax to take the impression of what there is degrading and demoralising amongst us. We have done them some good, and much harm’.46

However,Woiwurrung elders attempted to stop the trouble. Thomas recorded in mid-1841 that Billibellary and his cousin and fellow elder, Murrumbean, warned the young against drunkenness, the former beating a young man for repeated offences.47Their warnings seem to have moderated the abuse, as Thomas, in several of his 1844 quarterly reports, listed no or few cases of drunkenness. In April 1846 there were 160 Aborigines in Melbourne but only three cases of ‘gross drunkenness’.However, Thomas later pointed out that Billibellary’s own son, Kulpendurra, drank while in the Native Police and died in a drunken fight with the Goulburn people.48

Disease stalked Aboriginal people in Melbourne as the town’s European population reached 4,000 by 1840, increasing the germ pool immeasurably. In May 1839, Dr P. Cussens, the settlement’s medical officer, attended the Yarra camp where he found Aborigines suffering from dysentery, typhus fever, catarrh (respiratory infections) and syphilis, which could ‘if unchecked, render them extinct in a very few years’. Cussens pronounced their health the poorest since settlement, noting six recent deaths and that another six were imminent. The people lacked food and were without blankets in over-night May temperatures of 10º C. Cussens added that the people received medical care ‘with avidity and gratitude’.49

Despite accepting European medicines, Aboriginal people remained deeply traditional in their medical beliefs. This is revealed by the illness of Billibellary, the most powerful Woiwurrung ngurungaeta, one of the signatories of the Batman Treaty, and close friend ofWilliam Thomas’s. Billibellary had a ‘slight cough’ for about ten months and was given European medicines.When his case was pronounced as hopeless Billi-bellary consulted Aboriginal doctors. They advised that an up-country Aboriginal man had stolen some of his hair while he slept, and now his marmbulla (kidney fat) was wasting, draining away his life force. Thomas tried to convince him he was suffering from lung disease, but to no avail. Indeed, Billibellary soon recalled waking some months earlier to see a strange Aboriginal man near his fire, who must have stolen a lock of his hair. Billibellary died on 10 July 1846 to Thomas’s great grief. He buried his friend in the European manner, but his attempt to erect a memorial tablet over the fenced grave was prevented by ‘horrified’ Woiwurrung. It was possibly the publicising of Billi-bellary’s name, that of a now deceased person, to which they objected. A revenge party soon departed northwards against the Daungwurrung people, as tradition demanded, for the deaths of mature people were always deemed to be the result of sorcery from afar. So powerful were traditional ideas of death, that the revenge party included a Christian mission youth whom Thomas believed ‘has learnt to know better’.50

The European presence, along with their seductive foods and arte-facts, initially did not dent the strength of Aboriginal beliefs. Interested observers recorded, albeit uncomprehendingly, the practice of traditional customs and rituals. In 1858, William Thomas recalled ten days of ceremonies in the early 1840s near present-day Birrarung Park (Heidelberg), at which huge bark figures were carried. After the ceremony these were discarded and settlers used the bark sheets for roofing.51In 1843 one settler, Mr McCabe, reported seeing a ‘closed’ ceremony beside the Merri Creek, near Melbourne.McCabe saw ‘a huge and rude temple of stringy bark, covered with various hieroglyphics in white chalk’. He returned the following dawn to souvenir the bark but found it dismantled and destroyed.McCabe perhaps described the same ceremony for readers of the Port Phillip Gazette. Men, some of them body-painted in ochre with white clay faces and all bearing branches and wearing cockatoo feathers in their headbands, danced with stamping feet and serpentine movements, uttering hisses as they whished their legs with the branches, all in time to the women’s singing and clapping of sticks. The branches were wiped over, then thrown at a painted bark miam. He was told it was a gageed ceremony to send the current epidemic of sickness onto the Goulburn tribe.52

[image: 9781741154849txt_0053_001]
Winberry, sketched by William Thomas, Aboriginal Protector, 1840. (R.B. Smyth Papers, Courtesy of La Trobe Australian Manuscripts Collection, State Library of Victoria) 

Many Melbourne settlers saw ‘play’ corroborees as well, which Europeans were allowed to attend, perhaps to bind them to Aboriginal country and culture and show them the power of ritual. These performances impressed McCabe, but not others, and often confirmed the ‘savagery’ the viewer believed Aborigines possessed. Captain Wood thought the dancers ‘cut throat looking fellows’, while Richard Howitt saw things that ‘will haunt the soul years after such exhibitions.You hear the wild songs, see the dusky moving figures’.53In 1839 William Thomas witnessed other ceremonies. In one, some Daungwurrung women stole locks of hair from Woiwurrung young men, allegedly paralysing them. To save the men from death, all their bodily hair was shaved with a piece of glass, their bodies oiled with ochre and fat and the hair buried, in a procedure lasting almost four hours. At the end their relieved kin ‘wept or moaned for joy’.54Thomas also witnessed traditional healing in which the doctor vigorously rubbed the patient’s body with dust, then carefully gathered the dust up and threw it away, presumably along with all the sickness.55

The Kulin’s most spectacular ritual appeared to Europeans simply as fighting. Early colonial accounts invariably describe fights between Aboriginal people, as they were dramatic and confirmed the image of Aboriginal ‘savagery’ in an entertainment-starved town. Richard Howitt reported that a thousand Melbournians watched one such action in the mid 1840s. Humanitarians were continually trying to break-up these supposed ‘savage’ affairs, Rev. Waterfield and James Dredge among them, with Dredge reporting ‘some bad wounds’ in one fray.56On closer inspection, however, these were not fights, instances of warfare, or chaotic savagery, but trials in which honour was defended and restored. Howitt reported a fight over a Woiwurrung woman taken by a Daung-wurrung man from the Goulburn River. After much shouting, the surging back and forth of both groups, and the throwing of boomerangs and spears, just one man was speared in the leg.57In most of these encounters, elders watched from the sidelines and it was the young warriors who cracked heads with clubs and threw spears at each other. Sometimes the women joined in with clubs, or held ‘women’s only’ proceedings on another day. Not only was artful dodging taking place, often behind deftly held shields, but restraint was also shown in these ritualised conflicts. If not, elders intervened. Usually few people were wounded—speared in the side or limb—but sometimes deaths did occur. Once justice was seen to be done, a corroboree of reconciliation followed. This was age-old Aboriginal law at work, not ‘savagery’, war and chaos. In early 1844, 675 Aboriginal people from eight groups gathered to watch Wurruck and Poleorang, ‘men of great importance’, face trial for the murder of a Werralim youth from afar.58

It was just one of many such murders that took place as Aboriginal people, following colonisation, moved beyond their own country into that of others, sometimes as workers for Europeans or lured there by novelties such as tobacco, tea and sugar. Once they entered the territory of others they were seen as a threat. Peter, a Murrumbidgee youth who came to Melbourne with George Langehorne’s cattle in 1839, was killed by three Boonwurrung, one of whom was Derrimut. While it was a dreadful murder, it was carried out in defence of the Boonwurrung and their land: Peter, as the stranger, could potentially work sorcery against them. He was killed as an enemy in a ritualistic manner, William Thomas reporting of the body that ‘some of the flank and arm seem to be cut off and [an] incision [made] in the side’.59His kidney fat was taken as the source of his strength and it is possible the killers ritually consumed his kidneys.As one man told William Thomas when Thomas was investigating the killing, ‘no good that black fellow, no his country this’. He added ‘and no good you’, raising his tomahawk as if to strike Thomas. He went on to accuse Thomas of reporting his findings to his superior, thus getting in the way of traditional Aboriginal justice. In twenty years it was the only reported occasion that Thomas was threatened, such was the importance of Aboriginal law concerning intruders. In the end nothing came of the murder investigation, as it was an inter-Aboriginal killing with no witnesses, and Aboriginal people—being non-Christians—were not permitted to give evidence in British courts.60

Despite making Melbourne their own, walking its streets and doing as they pleased, Kulin tradition became progressively more difficult to practise. Though groups maintained customary movements across their lands, they found that areas were now closed to them. It became harder to find places to hold ritual undisturbed, and Aboriginal judicial proceedings were broken up as outsiders saw lawful punishments as fighting. Disease and violent deaths swept away important bearers of oral tradition and ceremonial knowledge. By late 1839, the Woiwurrung had been reduced to 139 people and the Boonwurrung to 83 people. Thomas estimated perhaps 20 more people remained uncounted. Amongst the Woiwurrung, 34 of the population were under ten years of age, but only 12 were four years or younger; among the Boonwurrung only 4 of 19 children were under four years old, meaning fewer children had been born and survived since the whites arrived than in a similar period before their arrival.61

The European arrival had subtler impacts as well. Their very presence threw into question the continuation of the Aboriginal world. There were now known to be other ways of using the land, earning one’s living, exchanging things, ordering one’s affairs, relating to kin, and being religious. Aboriginal people resisted these influences at first, but European knowledge was always there challenging them. New imaginings emerged to compete with traditional ideas. In 1844, two Aboriginal men from Melbourne travelling in Gippsland with the Chief Protector, George Robinson, commented that the thick vines draping from the trees looked like ships’ cables. Aborigines were exposed to new ideas: writing and paper, guns and steel, farming and Christianity—there was much to fathom about the intruders.

A final indignity for the Kulin was the authorities’ attempt to expel them from Melbourne. The Police Magistrate William Lonsdale had initially ignored their presence, admitting in February 1837, five months after his arrival, that he had not reported as yet on the Kulin.62But as more Kulin camped in Melbourne, concerns were raised. In December 1839 George Augustus Robinson, the Chief Protector, noted that large numbers of Kulin had gathered, including those from Melbourne, Western Port, the Goulburn and Geelong region, to conduct important ‘business’.63Asked to report on the situation,William Thomas wrote in despair about the continued trouble in the Yarra camp. ‘They are fighting almost every evening,’ he wrote on a day in which three were severely wounded, ‘and in the night indulging in the most awful scenes of debauchery, which create fresh frays for the coming day’. A young Goulburn woman was pack-raped, and Thomas commented that other Goulburn women, as well as the girl’s sister, had abused her for ‘making a noise and not quietly submitting to their brutality’. Thomas misunderstood much of what he saw, concluding that these things revealed ‘the moral state of the people’—by which he meant their immorality.64 This was only Thomas’s eighth month in the job, however, and he did not realise both the fighting and the rape were legal punishments in Aboriginal society. We should not be too quick to judge those in the past, as people did things differently then. English people hanged and whipped people for serious offences and Aboriginal people speared and raped for gross transgressions. But Thomas, an English evangelical Christian, was appalled at what he thought was barbarous brawling and a sexual offence. Later he would realise such events were Aboriginal law in action.

When Superintendent Charles La Trobe heard of these things, he was similarly appalled that such ‘disorder’ and ‘disgrace’ existed in his town. He wrote to Chief Protector Robinson that ‘the continued location of such a numerous body of natives in the immediate vicinity of the town cannot be endured much longer’.65La Trobe issued orders in September 1840 that ‘no Aboriginal blacks of the District are to visit the township of Melbourne under any pretext whatever’,66a directive that proved impossible to implement over the years. Thomas informed the Woiwur-rung and Boonwurrung people that they must select a campsite beyond Melbourne ‘to sit down’. They talked among themselves, night after night, first at their Kurruck camp and then at Bolin. They then met Robinson who produced a map of Port Phillip. The Aborigines preferred to draw their own map on the ground, which they did, and pointed to a spot where they agreed to go and ‘sit down’: it was called Narre Narre Warren.67

Another stark example of arbitrary state power occurred in Melbourne in October 1840, and pays further witness to the government’s growing impatience. In early 1840, frontier trouble—killings and loss of property in the Goulburn District—led to government action. One Major Lettsom was sent from Sydney to investigate and arrest Aboriginal wrongdoers; with authority to treat them as ‘subjects of the Queen, and not as aliens’; and to act as a ‘civil magistrate, and not in a military capacity’.68He pursued the Daungwurrung (Goulburn people) to Melbourne where the Kulin were gathering for a large initiation. Superintendent La Trobe described this gathering as ‘a pretty numerous armed body’. Despairing of Aboriginal hostility and their ‘resistance to the arm of the civil power’, La Trobe permitted Lettsom to apprehend those he sought, but ordered that he avoid bloodshed unless in ‘extreme and imperative necessity’.69Major Lettsom and eleven troopers rode into William Thomas’s camp by the Yarra at dawn, seeking two Aborigines. Thomas refused to cooperate, unhappy that charges had been laid against the two Aboriginal men. Lettsom crossed the Yarra, sending the Aboriginal camp of 200 Kulin into a panic. Thomas recorded: ‘Many jumped into the River, others climbed the trees, the women and children running into huts or wherever they could shelter themselves’.70 After riding hard all that week in search of the offenders, at daybreak on 11 October (as Protector James Dredge recorded in his diary), Major Lettsom and a military detachment surrounded the camp and arrested all but a few who escaped. One young Woiwurrung man, Winberry, resisted and was shot dead. The Aborigines’ spears were burnt and a stand of arms confiscated. Over 200 people, including Woiwurrung, Boonwurrung and Daungwurrung, were taken at bayonet point to the barracks. It seemed much more like a ‘military’ than a ‘civil’ action. The Woiwurrung and Boonwurrung were later released and about thirty Daungwurrung men were detained. Overnight some escaped, but one man was shot dead while escaping. As no charges were as yet laid, Dredge, who recorded these events partly by hearsay, rightly believed the escape was justified and the killing of the escapee ‘cold blooded murder’.

On 13 October, Dredge visited 35 men and youths in the jail, ‘chained together two and two’, who were ‘overjoyed’ to see him.71Eight months later, nine were convicted of robbery, and sentenced to ten years transportation for theft. La Trobe later admitted that they could not plead or testify in court, and were not defended. Ironically, all but one of the men escaped in January 1841 by diving into the Yarra during prison transfer and swimming to shore in leg irons. The leg irons were apparently filed off by their Woiwurrung kin. Dredge met six of them on the Goulburn two months later and, despite their fugitive status, fed them and sent them on their way.72The Woiwurrung and Boonwurrung, who were still loath to go to Narre Narre Warren reserve, were induced to go there according to William Thomas, due to fear arising from Lettsom’s raid.73

The pressures on the Kulin were now intense as land was fenced, traditional resources lost, and ceremony disrupted. Death whittled away at families and tradition. In late 1843, William Thomas and his friend Billibellary, the most powerful ngurungaeta of the Woiwurrung, frankly discussed infanticide; in short, the group’s future. Infanticide was traditionally practised when children were born too close together, as the younger could not be carried while the older was still unweaned and lacked mobility. Billibellary admitted that of eight women he named who had borne children since Thomas’s arrival in 1839, only two of their children survived. The others died from ‘strangulation or smothering’. Billibellary said that ‘blackfellows all about say that no good have them Pickaninneys now, no country for blackfellows like long time ago’. Derrimut similarly declared to William Hull: ‘all along here Derrimut’s once, . . . you have all this place, no good have children, no good have lubra, me tumble down and die very soon now’.74These apparently deliberate deaths, and Aborigines’ unwillingness to have children, are clear indications of the despair that colonisation had wrought among the Kulin.Without country,Aboriginal children had no birthright, and thus no reason for existence. However, Billibellary was not a fatalist. He promised Thomas to dissuade women from killing their children. He added, like a statesman: ‘if Yarra blackfellows had a country on the Yarra, . . . they would stop on it and cultivate the ground’.75
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‘Billibellary, Chief of the Yarra Tribe on Settlement being Formed’, by William Thomas. (Courtesy of La Trobe Australian Manuscripts Collection, State Library of Victoria) 

Billibellary himself ‘tumbled down’ in 1846, dying of respiratory disease in his mid-fifties. What was lost to early Melbourne when an elder such as Billibellary died? Thomas spent two long hand-written pages extolling the virtues of Billibellary, a man he knew well through travelling with him and sharing a campfire and long discussions. Thomas viewed him as a man of peace. Billibellary had signed Batman’s Treaty, warned the early settlers of an attack from up-country Aborigines, sent his own son to the first government mission and his two younger children to the Merri Creek School, joined the Native Police Corps (though he later resigned), tried to end revenge killings (although he fell to tradition in allowing his own imminent death to be revenged), and tried to prevent infanticide and drunkenness. This tall, athletic man was a visionary leader who tried to find a way forward without violence. As Thomas concluded: ‘It may be said of this Chief and his tribe what can scarce be said of any tribe of located parts of the colony that they never shed white man’s blood nor have white men shed their blood. I have lost in this man a valuable councillor in Aboriginal affairs’.76

Billibellary’s reconciling nature was in no way a surrender of Aboriginal values. However, with his death a store of traditional knowledge and power was lost, and his passing made the Kulin’s survival even more difficult. His son, Simon Wonga, succeeded him as ngurungaeta. Wonga and his kin continued to struggle for the land by the Yarra desired by Billibellary. He and others later gained Coranderrk—a reserve at Healesville—which they cherished and, after much struggle, retain today.77
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3. COUNTERING CIVILISERS 

The efforts to impose ‘civilisation’ on the indigenous peoples of Port Phillip is a British settler story. After the loss of the American colonies in the War of Independence (1775–83), Britain sought a second empire befitting an emerging world power. This imperial mission was softened by Enlightenment attitudes, at least in Australia’s case. Arthur Phillip, who was to govern the new convict settlement of New South Wales, was enjoined in 1787 to treat indigenous people with ‘amity and kindness’ and to punish offenders against them. At the same time Phillip was also encouraged to discover how ‘use’ might be made of them.1The British seaborne empire was at that time underpinned by the inhumane transport of slaves and slavery in the West Indies, but there was already a movement afoot to end this stain on the Empire, with the transportation of slaves in British ships being banned in 1807. The enlightened element within the Empire was boosted when British Evangelicals and humanitarians captured the new Whig Liberal Government in 1830, ending slavery in British possessions in 1833. Led by Thomas Buxton, this reforming group turned its interest to the treatment of indigenous people within the Empire, securing an influential Select Committee on Aborigines in the House of Commons in 1835.

The Buxton Committee’s Report, tabled in June 1837 just as Port Phillip was becoming an official colony, criticised the government. It argued that colonisation had cast Aboriginal peoples into a ‘deeper shade of wretchedness’ by placing a convict colony in their midst and failing to protect them from violence and moral contamination. Because sovereignty was claimed over indigenous lands, the report recognised Aborigines as British subjects equal under law. The report called for the governance of these new British subjects from Britain and not by local settlers; the provision of labour contracts to protect indigenous workers; and the provision of appropriate education and Christian instruction. As indigenous lands were taken without recompense, the report argued that indigenous people were owed a debt, and so the cost of their administration should be taken out of moneys raised from the sales of colonial (formerly indigenous) lands. However, the Buxton Committee Report, with its view of Aborigines as ‘probably the least-instructed portion of the human race in all the arts of social life’, was ethnocentric as well as enlightened, desiring that Aboriginal people become British and Christian: the ‘apex’ of human advancement. Such hierarchical views of human progress were common among enlightened and evangelical thinkers, whose world view sought social and moral advancement to Christian and respectable western standards.2

The Port Phillip settlement was officially proclaimed on 14 September 1836 in this atmosphere of benign imperialism. The concerns of British reformers and Evangelicals were strongly echoed in the colony by the liberal NSW Governor, Sir Richard Bourke, which led to a series of Christianising and humanitarian efforts in the new colony. The first, a Government Mission, began in Melbourne in 1837, and the Wesleyan Buntingdale Mission opened at Birregurra just east of Colac in late 1838. Following the recommendation of Buxton’s report, the British Government established an Aboriginal Protectorate in 1839, and, after three attempts, a Native Police Corps was established in Port Phillip in 1842. A Government School operated at Narre Narre Warren in 1841, and the Baptists initiated the Merri Creek School in 1845.3

These institutions had similar aims: to teach Aboriginal people the arts of British civilisation, transforming them from hunter-gatherers to a farming people; and to protect them from the worst effects of colonisation. Their common educative purpose was evident even in the Native Police Corps. Captain Alexander Maconochie conceived the idea of a corps in June 1837 after his concern that Aboriginal people faced ‘severe suffering and eventual entire disappearance’. Maconochie, a penal reformer interested in rehabilitating convicts into respectable colonists, applied these ideas to Port Phillip’s Aborigines. An indigenous military/ policing force—such as the Roman Empire had possessed—would ensure frontier peace and also assimilation, by binding Aboriginal ‘affections’ to the government. Those who enlisted would develop pride from their duties, their uniforms, their equipment and their guns. The military code of neatness and cleanliness, and the work ethic, would have a ‘humanizing effect’ and increase Aborigines’ status in settlers’ eyes. Life with their families in the barracks would civilise and settle them, making them models for other Aborigines.Maconochie believed that ‘a knowledge of and taste for European manners and civilization might be thus extensively yet silently implanted’, for ‘the Port Phillip natives, like all savages are great imitators’. All would benefit: the colony would be won, the Aborigines would be saved and remade, and Maconochie—looking for employment—was ‘very happy to be entrusted with the command of it’.4

These protective and civilising institutions had one thing in common: none endured. The Government Mission closed in 1839, the Government School in 1843, Buntingdale Mission in 1848, and the Aboriginal Protectorate, Merri Creek School and the Native Police Corps closed in 1849, 1850 and 1852 respectively. Colonists, government and later historians summed them up as ‘failures’.While considering the outcomes of Aboriginal policy, Superintendent La Trobe pointed out in 1848 that despite the outlay of £61,000 over thirteen years (equivalent to about $70 million today) all the plans, with the exception of the Native Police, have ‘either completely failed, or show at this date, most undoubted signs of failure’.5In his 1941 book, Australian Native Policy, J. B. Foxcroft came to the same conclusion. But from an Aboriginal perspective these institutions were perhaps ‘successes’, as Aboriginal people turned them to their own advantage. It is this aspect of their story, rather than their administrative history, that is told here.
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‘Billy, Native of Port Fairy’ aged eighteen—who was in the service of Dr Youl of Melbourne since a boy—by Ludwig Becker, from ‘Select Committee of the Legislative Council of Victoria on the Aborigines’, 1859.

The Government Mission and Protectorate 

In November 1837, the Quaker traveller James Backhouse saw fourteen Aboriginal boys, one of them named Barak and most of them Woi-wurrung, at school in the Government Mission. Lessons were held in a mud and plaster thatched schoolhouse by the Yarra near the present Botanic Gardens. The boys were dressed in ‘frocks’ with a waistband, learned English and counting, and how to eat, wash and sleep in British fashion. They seldom left the mission house without asking permission, as it was a rule that they forfeited one of their three daily meals by so doing. Their meals consisted of bread, tea and sugar for breakfast, meat and bread for lunch, and bread, tea and sugar for dinner. The food was filling and free, but hardly a balanced diet. Another six older boys, who wore trousers, worked the mission’s boat, ferrying supplies across the river.

Sixty adults camped by the mission. Two hours of fencing or digging in the garden each day earned them a ration of 450 grams each of meat and flour, and sometimes a little tea, sugar and soap.6None were forced to be there, but were lured by the promise of food and the sheer novelty. Interestingly, the site by a bend in the Yarra (later straightened by engineers) was also a traditional meeting place. The mission began in January 1837 after the NSW Governor, Sir Richard Bourke agreed to Justice Burton’s call that missions and ‘black villages’ were needed to provide Aboriginal people with ‘the enjoyments and security of a civilized life’.7George Langhorne, the missionary in charge, held the prejudices of his day, believing Aboriginal people to be ‘degraded savages’—that is, people without God—as well as ‘promiscuous, indolent wanderers’, who must be weaned slowly to a settled life. His strategy of change and conversion was aimed at the ‘rising generation’ as being the more malleable.8

Upwards of twenty children, mostly boys, were accommodated at the school. Their parents moved about, using it like a childcare centre as their trust in Langhorne grew. However, most people scattered in April 1838 after two violent incidents. The first incident occurred when several Aboriginal men who were camped at the mission raided the potato patch of a neighbour, John Gardiner, who subsequently set his men to watch. During the next raid, Gardiner’s man William Underwood accosted several Aboriginal men. They produced a gun and threatened Under-wood, but at the same time they pleaded hunger. Given the abundance of food handouts at that time around Melbourne their plea was probably untrue, but in principle the potatoes were on their land and in their eyes Gardiner was a neighbour, and as a neighbour was considered almost kin. Underwood escaped and returned with weapons and men, and the Aborigines were chased across the Yarra, shot at, and two were arrested: Tullamarine and Jin Jin. The two men were put in jail, but set fire to it, escaped, were recaptured, sent for trial in Sydney but never proceeded against, and finally returned to Melbourne. The second incident occurred the following month when Captain Lonsdale, the Police Magistrate, tried to apprehend several men, while they were camped at the mission, for alleged sheep theft up-country. There was a desperate scuffle with weapons, and shots were fired. Langhorne alleged the shots were fired at the Aborigines; Lonsdale, however, claimed the shots were more of a danger to his own men. The two incidents ended any chance for the mission, as Langhorne and Lonsdale fell out, and the alarmed Woiwur-rung dispersed, leaving only the old and sick.9

In reality, the Woiwurrung had had little interest in the mission’s preaching, lessons and work regime. They preferred the town itself where they attached themselves to European individuals who were on Woiwurrung land, ‘from whom they obtain money in part payment for their services’—‘white money’ (silver) no less, whereas Langhorne could only pay them ‘in coarse flour with a little meat’.10Langhorne’s regime of work and prayer was also less exciting than Melbourne with its gun shops, activity and street life. In December 1838 the Woiwurrung left Melbourne for the mountains, taking with them nearly all the boys from the mission, leaving only a Murrumbidgee boy. Important business was afoot, probably an initiation, as this would explain why some of the young Native Police trainees went as well and why the young boy from the north was excluded. As Langhorne lamented, ‘no inducement . . . will operate to prevent a black from undergoing certain rites or assisting at certain ceremonies’.11By late 1838 he admitted failure, arguing that missions had to be isolated from towns, and their inmates drawn from distant places, so they depended on ‘their white friends for protection, and [would be] render[ed] . . . more available to the missionary or instructors who should be placed among them’.12 Langhorne acknowledged the power of Aboriginal kinship and tradition and also the lure of European goods. This same Aboriginal customary power sealed the failure of the Buntingdale Mission at Birre-gurra, placed uneasily on the boundary of three rival clans.13

The Port Phillip Aboriginal Protectorate commenced as the Government Mission closed. Its Chief Protector, George Augustus Robinson, had conducted the ‘Friendly Mission’ in Van Diemen’s Land, which brought surviving Tasmanian Aborigines to Flinders Island as well as a few to reside temporarily in Port Phillip.14Four Protectors assisted him. They were to itinerate with the Aborigines, but the practicalities of being family men caused them to form central stations instead. By 1841, stations existed at Narre Narre Warren, the Goulburn River, Mount Rouse and Franklingford on the Loddon River. The stations issued rations, but these were always too few to hold the Aborigines.

The Protectorate caused settler resentment as its policy was devised in London’s armchairs, but paid for by the colonial land fund. Settlers were angry that each Protectorate station used five square miles of desirable land and Protectors favoured Aborigines in disputes with settlers. They claimed the Protectors were useless, being inept family men of unrealistic Christian and humanitarian ideas, ill-suited to the demands of ‘taming a race of wild and lawless savages’.15Some slandered the Protectors as self-serving, and most believed the very existence of the Protectorate demonised the colony in the eyes of the world. Settlers claimed they did not need help to care for Aboriginal people. One settler called the Protectorate ‘a curse to the land’.16Such criticisms, which stemmed from settler self-interest and rivalry with Aboriginal people for land, were endless and withering. They served to undermine the Protectorate even in the eyes of officials, who found its maintenance expensive by the time depression hit in 1844. Some colonists publicly defended the Protectorate, but behind nom de plumes: ‘Humanitas’ argued for more resources, while ‘Memorabilia’ claimed it protected the ‘rightful owners of this splendid continent’ from those ‘rapacious and sometimes dissolute intruders’who forced Aborigines from their land.17
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Aboriginal Farmers at Parker’s Protectorate Station, Mount Franklin. (Courtesy of La Trobe Picture Collection, State Library of Victoria, H84.167/43) 

Aboriginal people visited Protectorate stations, at times in significant numbers, but they remain largely faceless to us. The Loddon station, also known as Mount Franklin and Jim Crow, and which was formed in early 1840 by ex-London printer and strong evangelical Christian, Edward Stone Parker, attracted most. In its first triennium the daily average attendance was almost 100 people, mostly Daungwurrung, although their attendance was halved over the next six years.18The stations lured people—as did Melbourne town—by food, the novelty of European things, and by being a refuge. Parker told a NSW Legislative Council Select Committee on Aborigines in 1845 that the Loddon River region was in the ‘greatest confusion’ and threatening to descend into ‘a war of extermination on both sides’ when he arrived in early 1840. He reported that two settlers, now magistrates, had told him on his arrival that blacks and whites in the same country were incompatible, and ‘one-half of the Aboriginal population must be shot’. He added that after the Lettsom raid on the Kulin in Melbourne in October 1840, ‘some of the most influential’ Aboriginal men frequenting Melbourne proposed ‘killing every white man they could find unprotected’.19To this region Parker brought peace.

There was a genuine affection between Protector Parker and the Daungwurrung, despite the cultural and religious gulf between them. Parker’s evangelicalism moved him to deem them ‘immoral’, as they practised polygamy, allegedly infanticide, and other ‘savageries’ as well. They were also ‘degraded’ to his mind, as he believed they were descendants of the biblical Ham, Noah’s son, who was expelled to the wilderness because he had looked upon his father Noah while Noah was naked and drunk in his tent.20However, Parker liked them, and his station was successful because of this and because he cut through ‘red tapeism’.21The Daungwurrung thought him strange, a man different from other whites, as he was always praying from a book. But they liked him too, and from the outset carried his children on their shoulders into the bush and cooked them bush food. They called ParkerMarmingorak, meaning ‘father’. The Daungwurrung, Parker and his men set to work pioneering the Loddon station, quickly enclosing 15 hectares and planting several hectares of crops. As the Aborigines worked, felling trees, splitting timber, building huts and fences, and gardening with steel tools, they constantly asked the purpose of these labours. They expressed pleasure when Parker said their work was for their benefit. Indeed, as the Daungwurrung worked and spoke of their loss of land to settlers, Parker constantly told them that the station, its rations and clothing were for them—by way of compensation—as long as they were peaceful and left the settlers’ stock alone.

Parker hoped to effect change through Christianity, and focussed his efforts on the young. However, he found it almost impossible to translate Christian ideas and morality into the Daungwurrung’s language that he was attempting to master. His prayers were crudely evangelical, typically speaking of sin and evil, and may have offended. One prayer pleaded to God of the Aborigines: ‘Take from them their bad spirit. Give them a good spirit. Be not angry with them. They are very stupid. They steal, they fight, they kill, they tell lies’. It was little wonder that Parker’s efforts were not always appreciated. Two elders reproached him for interfering with their traditional education of the young: ‘Why do you sit down with blackfellows? You were not born of a black woman! Why don’t you go back to your own country—up to woorerwoorer [the sky] where you came from’.22Yet resentments were not permanent. When three Aboriginal children died shortly after overseer Bazely’s own daughter died, the people wanted their children buried alongside Bazely’s child. In 1848 the Daungwurrung people left for six months, claiming there was too much sickness and that they wished to hide from their enemies the Pyrenees people, who were venturing into the region. By the time they returned, to the delight of some of the young men (according to Parker), a school had been established at the Loddon station. However, a Legislative Council review then underway led to the Protectorate’s closure in December 1849.

Parker lamented its demise as he sensed ‘success seems to have dawned’. A young boy and also an Aboriginal man, ‘one of the worst savages of the tribe’, had both recently died, asking for Christian salvation. There were also 400 bushels of wheat in sacks from the last harvest and sheep numbers had soared from 500 to 3,000: a settled station was evolving.Yet there was little evidence that the Daungwurrung as a group were turning from their customary ways. Indeed, in his last report Parker admitted: ‘The mass of the Aboriginal population of this District remains unchanged in their characteristic habits and inclinations, and in some instances I have witnessed more determined hostility to religion, and more inveterate attachment to their own sensuality and superstition than ever’.23Parker was appointed as visiting magistrate to the Loddon Aboriginal School. He leased the station’s land, employing the Aborigines as pastoral workers, and preached and ministered to their elderly.

The Native Police 

The Native Police Corps, an instrument of change and control, also provided opportunities for Aboriginal people. Its commandant, Captain Henry Dana, claimed the routines they practised at their Narre Narre Warren barracks (near where present-day Stud Road crosses Dandenong Creek)24enabled young Aboriginal men to be ‘kept under proper control, taught discipline, obedience, and respect, and made of some use to the country’.25The forty or fifty who were enlisted each year filled their days keeping themselves spick and span, doing an hour’s drill, cleaning their equipment, building and maintaining their barracks, as well as cutting wood, gardening and playing ball games for fitness. These activities taught them the European work ethic within a lifestyle they found congenial. The artist William Strutt sketched them relaxing in their barracks like any British troopers. For some months of each year the Native Police Corps patrolled outside of Melbourne. Their work took them across the colony and into the white community and varied from searching for a shipwreck and an alleged gold mine in the Pyrenees, to tracking stock thieves and guarding Pentridge Stockade. They had authority over black and white. The troopers even paraded at official occasions, escorting Superintendent La Trobe. In September 1849 they were near the front of the procession celebrating the news of Victoria’s imminent creation as a separate colony.26

About 140 Aboriginal troopers—mostly Woiwurrung and Boonwur-rung— had enlisted by 1852, eagerly, voluntarily, and for their own reasons and desires. Each trooper used a variety of guns—carbines, muskets and pistols—a cutlass, and also a horse, which was a prestige item possessed only by gentlemen and masters in early Port Phillip. They also wore a uniform complete with cap, gold braid and polished leather belt and boots, and were provided with a pair of blankets and plentiful food. They were to be paid at three pence a day, a quarter of a shilling, equivalent to about a quarter of a shepherd’s wage.However, as William Thomas testified in 1859: ‘I have had many complaints made to me that they never did get their money; they would get 2s 6d or 3 s[hillings] at the end of a quarter’; that is, about two weeks pay instead of thirteen weeks.Where the rest went is unknown.27

[image: 9781741154849txt_0070_001]
‘Aboriginal Black Troopers, Melbourne: Police with English Corporal.’ (By permission of the Parliamentary Library, Parliament of Victoria from William Strutt’s Victorian the Golden: Scenes, Sketches and Jottings from Nature 1850–1862, plate 71) 

The initial enlistments followed seven days of deliberations by Billi-bellary and his people in February 1842. Their induction occupied several hours, as Dana and William Thomas explained to the twenty-two recruits, resplendent in their uniforms, the duties of policing and the benefits they would receive. Each were sworn in and made their mark. Billibellary hesitated at this point, saying: ‘I am king; I no ride on horseback; I no go out of my country; young men go as you say, not me’.28He eventually signed, although he only played a ceremonial role in the corps, parading in uniform for several hours daily, and soon quit. Within a year most recruits received good service reports, which noted their orderliness and obedience, their cleanliness, intelligence and improvement. Billibellary’s record noted: ‘general conduct good. A chief, he has a great deal of influence with his tribe; very useful in assisting to prevent quarrels’. Only six were deemed ‘bad’ characters, one ‘a great savage, careless, disobedient, intractable and dangerous’. Three of these problem recruits were said to be ‘improving’.29

Billibellary’s presence in the Native Police Corps as the most prestigious elder of the Melbourne region was no accident. Marie Fels, who studied the corps in great depth, found that the first twenty-two enlistments ‘were nearly all either clan heads or heirs to clan heads. In terms of traditional power and authority they constituted a formidable group of men’.30These men were not joining the colonial power structure, but enlarging their power by extending it into a new sphere. They were both troopers and Aboriginal men of significance. They received favourable service reports but also used their role for traditional ends. They moved the Narre Narre Warren camp to the Merri Creek at one stage, lured the young Aboriginal boys from school when it suited them, and arrested only whom they chose. As William Thomas recognised in 1844:

an order from their own people they must obey . . . nor dare they do an act that may lead to any fearful results upon their Tribes or those [with] whom their Tribe may occasionally have intercourse. Let there be an outrage among the Barrabools,Mount Macedon, Goulburn, Yarra and Western Port Tribes and it will be seen what I have asserted is correct. This body dare not act, in tracking they will mislead, in acting evade or object, but they will readily pursue the far distant unfortunate Aboriginal tribes, or successfully act against the whites, this will ever render them inefficient and dubious.31

The mounted troopers even broke service regulations at times. In April 1847 they came on duty at the Melbourne races, but on foot, and the next day sent their uniforms back to Narre Narre Warren and stayed at the Merri Creek, seeming to want time out. In early 1849 about five ‘bolted’ despite knowing the consequences. Dana gave them some latitude, but Warringalpoop was one trooper who was court martialled and flogged.32

Their tours of duty in the country were controversial too, predictably so, given Thomas’s remarks above. Fels argues they did not practise inordinate violence against ‘distant tribes’.However, evidence reveals the Native Police were violent to those whom they saw as mainmet, wild men, who were practitioners of dangerous sorcery. Other historians believe they played a significant role in subduing Aboriginal resistance in the Western District and Gippsland.33Contemporaries thought the same. If the Native Police were hard on Aborigines in the interior, it was as much or more for the traditional reasons of neutralising mainmet, as for the colonial reasons of clearing the land and protecting settlers.

The troopers were exhilarated by their military actions, an experience common to many truthful fighting men the world over. Rolf Boldrewood, who settled the Port Fairy area in the early 1840s, recalled the arrival of the Native Police, summoned there by fearful settlers. Corporal Buckup dismounted, saluted Boldrewood and said: ‘We have been sent up by Mr Dana, sir, to stop at this station a bit. Believe the blacks been very bad about here’. Buckup added: ‘They only want a good scouring, sir’.34Some weeks later the local Aborigines were caught out in the open by the mounted Native troopers and received such a ‘scouring’ that resistance was broken in the region. Back in Melbourne William Thomas heard the results from the jubilant troopers: ‘This black related to me how many had been killed, how many each shot—the gross number 17’. Thomas questioned why no prisoners were brought back. The trooper said: ‘Captain say big one stupid catch them very good shoot them, you blackfellows, no shoot them me handcuff you and send you to jail’.35A Gippsland man told Mr Edgar, the teacher at the Merri Creek School, that ‘Captain Dana come down with him black police; shoot him black fellar there, black lubra there, black picaninni there, shoot him pla-a-anty’. No doubt stories became embellished, but many were convinced of the violence of the Native Police in distant parts. One historian, Beverley Nance, estimated that the Native Police killed 125 Aborigines over a decade.36

The Native Police Corps ended in 1853 due to a combination of events. Resignations among the white officers occurred in the gold rush; Captain Dana died of pneumonia in November 1852; and the Aboriginal troopers dwindled in number due to disease and misadventure. William Thomas claimed in 1854 that they were all ‘drunkards’ and in 1859, that they were all dead.37However, one Native Policeman,William Barak, lived until 1903. Thomas’s information on their lives after the abandonment of the force suggests they were driven by traditional relationships and that the force had not ‘detribalised’ them as the political scientist J.B. Foxcroft had suggested. Indeed, Marie Fels concluded that becoming a Native Policeman was a ‘creative and adaptive Aboriginal strategy’.38

Aboriginal schools 

Schooling was the final method of engineering change among Aboriginal people. A small bark schoolroom with forms and school requisites, run by Noble Keenan (and later E. Peacock), was built at Narre Narre Warren Protectorate station in August 1841. Keenan began with over thirty pupils, boys and girls, one of them Billibellary’s son. He aimed to ‘gradually bring them to civilized habits and let them have as little communication with their parents as possible’.39Within a fortnight the girls left with their parents and the boys soon followed. The people moved to the Merri Creek camp and into the bush as Keenan provided insufficient food. This was a pattern over the next two years, which led to daily attendances mostly of less than ten. Sometimes no children attended for days on end. Keenan tried numerous strategies, including following the children to the Merri Creek and into the bush with chalk and writing tablets, prevailing upon sixteen to sing lessons in the forest on one occasion.However, their lack of interest in lessons was such that in November 1842 the children told their teacher: ‘no damper, no school’.40Captain Dennis of the Native Police urged the ‘chief ’, probably Billibellary, to encourage the children to attend, which had a temporary effect. When attendances again dropped within a few days, Dennis told Billibellary that non-attendance would result in all Aborigines being driven from the Police Paddock. Numbers instantly climbed to eighteen for a few weeks, and then fell away again. The school closed in early 1843. 41

The Baptists ofMelbourne began a more sustained educational effort at the Merri Creek in 1845. It began after Peacock, the former teacher at Narre Narre Warren, attracted five children to his Richmond Baptist Sunday School with bread and prayer. As the number of Aboriginal children increased to 26, the Baptists moved to a building on the Merri Creek immediately above Dight’s Falls and just below the Aboriginal camp. With government help they opened a day school where the children could be educated ‘and in a great measure domesticated, and led into habits of industry’, as Rev. John Ham wrote.42Protector William Thomas was sceptical after the failures at Narre Narre Warren, fearing the Aborigines’ mobility and Peacock’s lack of skill. However, in May 1846 Thomas was amazed at the progress of the 27 clean and neatly clad pupils, mostly Woiwurrung, who had only a few months before ‘formed a portion of the great nuisance in Melbourne, begging, and often pilfering about’. The students were able to read words of one or two syllables, and one boy read a portion of ‘our Lord’s parables’. They received ‘three good meals a day of the best food’ and occasionally slept at the school, although the girls slept at camp. The school gained more land and commenced a garden. The Port Phillip Gazette reported good progress.43

For a year the pupils shone in Melbourne’s estimation, and revealed their ability to learn new languages—spoken English, the written word and arithmetic—as well as ideas and skills. Three public performances of their learning took place, the first before 600 people in a packed Mechanics Institute meeting. Thirteen boys and seven girls were on show, the boys dressed in white duck trousers and regatta shirts and the girls in pink dresses, their hair shining and their skin scrubbed to a glorious bronze. Their singing drew applause. The youngest of eight children spelt three-letter words, and the older ones read Scripture. The Mayor of Melbourne presented the oldest boy,Wydelong, with a New Testament. He opened it and read from Matthew 13: the parable of the sower and the seeds sown on barren and good soil, raising hopes among the Christians present. Donations of £30 were raised, a sum equal to half a labourer’s yearly wage, and doctors offered their services free to the school. In November a second presentation focussed on the students’ written and craft work. More donations flowed, a Geelong squatter alone sending £30.44 Reverend John Ham later claimed: ‘I never saw cleaner copy-books from any white school. They could not as yet write a sentence or spell properly, but could write text and round hand’.45 Melbourne’s humanitarians sensed progress. Ham lamented two years later that the students’ performance was marred only by their speaking too softly. This was to be expected, especially as Aboriginal youths were taught to be self-effacing.

These accomplishments probably amounted to little more than a thin veneer over Aboriginal customary ways, although we cannot discount their sincerity. Ham recalled: ‘[The Aboriginal students] first wanted shirts and trousers, then hats and shoes, and after they had got shoes, they were not content till they got jackets. Then they wanted frock coats, and had them as the fruits of their own labour out of their own garden’.46 Their interest in material things made their Christian interest appear a compliant and manipulative strategy by a people becoming paupers in their own land, to gain food, shelter and access to tradable goods. Their efforts revealed fine imitative skills, but we cannot underestimate their interest in the novelty of schoolwork and the Christian message, which within a few years yielded Christian converts. Even their gardening, which five of the boys undertook with diligence, was done with tools and blades, whose novelty might have intrigued them.

However, resentments emerged and customary demands arose. In December 1846 the boys proved so unruly that William Thomas was summoned to draw up rules of behaviour to assist Peacock. Within a month some boys left and others refused to dress and clean themselves for Sunday church. The next year the girls misbehaved. Their home culture was blamed, a school report in 1848 stating: ‘direct authority cannot be employed to the same extent as with European children’ due to the ‘indulgence native children have had at home’.47Certainly, school discipline—which included strapping—would have shocked children unused to such strictness. A few boys, including Billibellary’s son, left in excitement to join the Native Police. Some absconded to taste bush life, telling Thomas ‘they liked the bush better than the school’.48Others left to be initiated and maturing girls were claimed as brides. In early 1847, three families from Western Port arrived to take a nine-year-old away, no doubt to prepare for her education, initiation and eventual marriage, but on being refused, and ‘after five days waiting in the rain to obtain her’, they left. In September 1847 parents sought to recover other children, complaining that they were ‘worked like long ago government men’, meaning convicts. Despite only a handful of convicts being present in Melbourne working on government projects, Kulin people still had a vivid impression of their drudgery. Perhaps Batman’s ‘Sydney blacks’ told the Kulin stories of convicts in their home country. In late 1847, the people abandoned the Merri Creek camp after two years residence and moved further up the Yarra taking their children with them.49The school was left without pupils, causing the Argus to chortle that the ‘school for savages’ had failed. However, Rev. Ramsey wrote: ‘There is nothing wanting on the part of the native population either as respects quickness of mental apprehension, or the ordinary sensibilities of our nature to hinder them from rising in Society, and one day taking their place amongst the civilised and Christian portion of mankind’.50

The Merri Creek School lingered until 1848 with a new teacher, Mr Edgar, and family. His daughter Lucy Anna published an account of the experiment in 1865. The school’s original pupils were five youths around the ages of twenty.Murrumwiller (renamed Charley) was from the Murray (or perhaps Gippsland); Jackey and Little Jemmy were from Gippsland; two more students were from Port Fairy—Jemmy and Figur (renamed Tommy)—and one was a Melbourne youth, Gurren Gurrenboop. William Thomas had brought them all to the school. A young woman Parley (renamed Kitty) and her two young sons,Wurra-bool (renamed Harry) and Tommy, also came to the school.51They were the family of Bungaleenee, a Gippsland man apprehended for allegedly holding as hostage in Gippsland a fabled ‘wild white woman’. This woman—a fantasy constructed from images of white maidenhood held in savage hands—was first rumoured to exist in 1840. The ‘wild white woman’ supposedly held by Bungaleenee was sought by three white search parties, which gallantly rode out in knightly quests in the mid 1840s, causing the deaths of numerous Gunai.52

The youths were at first disinclined to work or take lessons, but their existing appetite for tobacco was used by Edgar to gain their cooperation. The boys’ lessons initially proceeded well. They attended the Collins Street Baptist Church each Sunday, in white trousers and jackets, discussing the sermon and the church rituals over dinner that evening. They particularly enjoyed the hymns, which they sang about the house and in bed before sleeping. Little Jemmy (James White) and Kitty were married around 1850 by Rev. Ramsey before the School Committee, William Thomas claiming it as the first Christian marriage among Aboriginal people. The School Committee tested the students regularly and rewarded their efforts with gifts, including ‘white’ money. Even Superintendent La Trobe heard them read and deemed their progress pleasing. Together with the Edgars the students refurbished the school’s garden and built a bridge over the Merri, which earned them cash tips from grateful travellers before it was washed away in a devastating flood. The youths had pleasant, even amusing times with the Edgar family, there being a genuine mutual affection, if tinged with paternalism on the part of the Edgars who thought the youths amusing—‘half-civilised’, ‘half-savage’. But a melancholy intermittently haunted the boys. They (and the Edgars) called it a ‘beeg one sulky’, which caused them to be uninterested in life and eating for several days on end, before regaining their hunger and cheerful disposition. The Edgars explained it as part of their ‘savage’ make-up. Perhaps it can be read as an alienation or depression, experienced by youths separated from their families, culture and their home country, and placed amidst an experiment in social change to form them into Christian rural labourers.

Charley from the Murray had aspirations to be more than a labourer and evolved a plan. He admired the gentlemen of the School Committee and others about Melbourne with their fine clothes and horses. If Charley was to join white society, he aimed to join its upper ranks, not the lower ranks as imagined by European humanitarians. Charley knew where power and status lay. He perfected his spoken English and observed the manner and deportment of a gentleman. Indeed, Charley expressed the desire to be white. The Edgars replied that a well-conducted dark man could be as respected as a white.He then declared: ‘I like to be a gentleman. Black gentleman as good as white’. Indeed, Charley declared he desired a white wife and when the Edgars laughed, retorted: ‘plenty white woman marry black man’. He even penned the first line of a love letter to a lady he admired, writing: ‘My dear Mary, I love you sweet as honey’.53Charley realised that Europeans had two names and that gentlemen had formal ones, so he renamed himself Charles Never. (The other youths wanted two names as well and, with the help of the Edgars, became James White, Jacky Warren, Thomas Gurrenboop, and Kitty, Harry and Tommy Bungaleenee). To make his way in the world, Charles Never apprenticed himself in April 1850 to Mr Foreman, a tailor in Elizabeth Street, in order to gain indoor employment and learn to sew, so he could make his gentleman’s clothes.

[image: 9781741154849txt_0077_001]
‘Portrait of Charles NEVER, Civilised Aboriginal.’ (By permission of the Parliamentary Library, Parliament of Victoria from William Strutt’s Victorian the Golden: Scenes and Sketches and Jottings from Nature 1850–1862, plate 72) 

Charles Never was soon parading around Melbourne like a dandy in black coat, trousers and waistcoat with a white starched stand-up collar, black boots, black kid gloves, a black satin stock (whip), and a tall black hat, apparently to the mirth of passers-by.Colonial and racial ideas were against Charles joining the powerful classes, as has been the case in all colonial regimes.54Aboriginal people were enjoined to become like whites, but derided when they sought to aim high, and do it in style.His fellow students also mocked his attempt—but we should not. Charles Never chose to assimilate but on his own terms. He also made a keen political point saying: ‘I mean to write to the Queen and ask her to give me a piece of land . . . to build a house on; and I mean to ask her for 400 pounds . . . to build my house’. Mrs Edgar explained that the Queen would not entertain such a letter unless it went through the proper channels. Charles quickly replied:

You say one time the Queen a good woman. And yet she send white man out here, take black fellar’s land, and drive them away, and shoot them, and build planty house and garden on my land; and when I say, I ask her to give me back a piece of my land and money to build a house, you say she think I not know better. I know better. This land, my land first of all. 400 pounds not much to the Queen, and she take planty land from me.55

Mr Edgar said the School Committee might support his request for land if he worked better, but his master did not think that Charles worked hard or consistently enough. Charles disagreed. The letter it seems was never sent, but Charles’s intention revealed his political stance.

Charles Never made a success of being a tailor. Lucy Edgar claimed Charles refused to call the tailor ‘master’ as an apprentice should, and referred to him simply as ‘he’. In April 1851 William Thomas went in pursuit of Charles after hearing he had left his master, and found him at the Native Police Barracks. Charles Never claimed his master urged him to work when he was unwell. He returned to his master on Thomas’s urging and finished his apprenticeship despite this rebelliousness. He then joined the Native Police as a tailor, probably gaining a smart uniform of his own. Charles Never told Thomas in May 1851 that he was very happy at Narre Narre Warren and ‘that Capt Dana and all are very good to him’.56It was reported at a missionary meeting in July 1851 that he continued to study his Bible and attend Sunday school.57He apparently attempted to ‘call on’ some genteel families—unsuccessfully. Lucy Anna Edgar, who recalled Charles’s words above (probably loosely) and told the story of the Merri Creek School, again from memory more than a decade later, also recalled Charles’s fate from hearsay. Edgar wrote that Aborigines eventually killed Charles Never while he was guiding missionaries to the Murray (no doubt the Anglicans to Yelta Mission in 1855), suggesting that he might have tired of breaking into white society and was perhaps heading for home.58

The other youths at the Merri Creek School did not share Charles Never’s aspirations to go into the wider world, partly from fear of local Aboriginal people. Figur attempted to make his way home to Port Fairy on a bullock wagon in June 1848. He was waylaid and killed by a group led by the Goulburn man, Billy Hamilton, which contained four Woiwurrung students from the School, including Wydelong who had read Matthew 13 so impressively. Figur’s killing was traditional business. He was a stranger, Billy Hamilton commented to Thomas: ‘no good long way blackfella that’.59Figur’s brother Jemmy returned home safely, but in sorrow. The two Gippslanders also headed home. After weeks of pressure from the Woiwurrung—‘wild blacks’, the Edgars called them—Kitty departed, leaving her two young sons with the Edgars.With only a few students left, the Merri Creek School closed in 1851. The two Bungaleenee boys were to move with the Edgars to Tasmania, but for some reason this did not occur,much to their chagrin: yet another happy home was wrested from them. Instead, in January 1851 William Thomas gave them to the care of John Hinkins, who ran an Anglican school in Pentridge village (now Coburg). The boys became showpieces of assimilation as will be seen later.
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